

LUND UNIVERSITY

Prognostic and Treatment Predictive Markers Associated with Cyclin D1 Gene Amplification and Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Breast Cancer

Lundgren, Katja

2010

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Lundgren, K. (2010). Prognostic and Treatment Predictive Markers Associated with Cyclin D1 Gene Amplification and Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Breast Cancer. Katja Lundgren.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 Prognostic and Treatment Predictive Markers Associated with Cyclin D1 Gene Amplification and Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Breast Cancer

Katja Lundgren



Faculty of Medicine

© Katja Lundgren, 2010

Department of Laboratory Medicine, Center for Molecular Pathology, Malmö University Hospital, 205 02 Malmö, Sweden

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2010:26 ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-86443-40-5

Printed by Media-Tryck, Lund, Sweden

From the Department of Laboratory Medicine, Center for Molecular Pathology, Malmö University Hospital, Lund University, Sweden

Prognostic and Treatment Predictive Markers Associated with Cyclin D1 Gene Amplification and Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Breast Cancer

Katja Lundgren



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

Academic Dissertation

By due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden, to be defended at the main lecture hall, Pathology building, entrance 78, Malmö University Hospital, Malmö, on Friday 9th of April, 2010 at 9.00 am for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, Faculty of Medicine

Faculty Opponent

Gillian Farnie, PhD Paterson Institute for Cancer Research University of Manchester, UK

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATIC	DN		
Department of Laboratory Medicine	Date of issue 2010-04-09			
Center for Molecular Pathology Malmö University Hospital	Sponsoring organization			
Author(s)				
Katja Lundgren				
Title and subtitle Prognostic and Treatment Predictive Markers Associated with Cyclin D1 Gene Amplification and Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Breast Cancer				
Abstract				
Endocrine resistant breast cancer is a major therapeutical challenge and accurate selection of patients susceptible to certain types of anti-hormonal treatment strategies is pivotal. Discovery of novel biomarkers potentially predicting treatment response as well as the clinical course of breast cancer is essential to effectively improve therapies and diagnosis. The main goal of this thesis was to identify putative markers for prediction of clinical outcome and response to tamoxifen, the first-line endocrine treatment option for premenopausal breast cancer patients. The markers examined were associated with CCND1 amplification (Chk1 and β -arrestin1), which has previously been linked to a potential adverse effect of tamoxifen, or with epithelial-mesenchymal transition (Snail), a biological process crucial for the development of metastasis. Immunohistochemical analyses of the biomarkers were predominantly performed in a breast cancer cohort including premenopausal patients randomly assigned to receive either tamoxifen or no adjuvant treatment. The in vitro studies investigated the regulation of EMT in hypoxia, in a panel of human breast cancer cells lines. We found that deletion of the CHK1 gene is potentially associated with CCND1 amplification, and loss of Chk1 protein expression was demonstrated to be linked to an impaired response to tamoxifen in premenopausal breast cancer patients. Additionally, the EMT-regulator Snail, which has been reported to be involved in ER- signaling, was shown to predicit tamoxifen response, where absence of nuclear Snail rendered patients less sensitive to this adjuvant therapy. Moreover, hypoxia induced an incomplete EMT in vitro, and Snail modulated the migratory propensity of breast cancer cells. Finally, stromal expression of β -arrestin1 was found to be an independent prognostic marker in a cohort of both pre- and postmenopausal breast cancer patients. In premenopausal patients both high expression and absence of β -arrestin1 was linked to poor prognosis, but expression o				
Key words: Breast cancer, tamoxifen, prognostic/predictive marker, cyclin D1 gene amplification, Chk1, β-arrestin1, EMT, Snail, hypoxia				
Classification system and/or index termes (if any):				
Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language		
ISSN and key title:		ISBN 078 01 86442 40 5		
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	978-91-80443-40-5 Price		
	117			
	Security classification			

Distribution by (name and address) I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Dende Signature

	2010-02-25
Date	2
	sales have not and an an an and the second

For my Parents

"Whatever you do will be insignificant, but it is very important that you do it" -Mahatma Gandhi

List of Papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, referred to in the text by their respective roman numerals.

Paper I

Lundgren K, Holm K, Nordenskjöld B, Borg Å, Landberg G. Gene products of chromosome 11q and their association with *CCND1* gene amplification and tamoxifen resistance in premenopausal breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research*: 10(5):R81 (2008)

Paper II

Lundgren K, Nordenskjöld B, Landberg G. Hypoxia, Snail and incomplete epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer *British Journal of Cancer*: 101(10):1769-81 (2009)

Paper III

Lundgren K, Tobin N P, Stål O, Rydén L, Jirström K, Landberg G. Stromal expression of β-arrestin1 predicts clinical outcome in breast cancer *Submitted for publication*

Publication not Included in the Thesis

Lundgren K, Holm C, Landberg G. Hypoxia and breast cancer: prognostic and therapeutic implications. Review *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*: 64(24): 3233-47 (2007)

Table of Contents

Abbreviations	10
Introduction to Cancer	11
Malignant Progression	11
The Origin of Cancer	11
The Normal and Malignant Breast	13
Breast Development	13
Breast Cancer	14
Epidemiology and Etiology	14
The Biology of Breast Cancer	15
Prognostics	16
Tumor Type	16
Histological Grade	17
Novel Prognostic Criteria	17
Breast Cancer Therapy	18
Surgery	18
Radiotherapy	18
Chemotherapy	18
Endocrine Therapy	19
SERMs and SERDs	19
Aromatase Inhibitors	20
HER2 Targeted Therapy	20
Estrogen Receptor Signaling	
and Endocrine Resistance	21
Estrogen	21
Estrogen Receptors	21
Tamoxifen Resistance	23
Mechanisms Underlying Tamoxifen Resistance	23
Genomic Aberrations at Chromosome 11q	26
Amplifications and Deletions	26
Chromosome 11q: Genetic Events and Gene Products	26
Cyclin D1	26
Cortactin	27
FADD	27
Loss of Distal 11q	27
Chk1	28
β-arrestin1	28

Tumor Hypoxia	30
Clinical Definition of Hypoxia	30
HIF-1a Regulation	30
The Hypoxic Response	31
Hypoxia in Cancer	32
Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition	34
The Concept of EMT	34
Regulation of EMT	34
The E-cadherin Repressor Snail	36
Novel Theories on EMT and Cancer	36
The Tumor Microenvironment and Metastasis	37
Tumor Metastasis	37
Components of the Tumor Microenvironment	37
The Pre-Metastatic Niche	38
Tumor Stroma and Clinical Aggressiveness	39
Perspectives of Breast Cancer	40
The Present Investigation	41
Aims	41
Results and Discussion	42
Conclusions	50
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	51
Acknowledgements	54
References	56

Abbreviations

AF-1/2	Activation function-1/2	GSK-3β	Glycogen synthase kinase-3β
AI	Aromatase inhibitor	HER2	Human epidermal growth
AIB1	Amplified in breast cancer 1		factor receptor 2
AP-1	Activating protein-1	HIF	Hypoxia inducible factor
ARNT	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor	HPA	Human protein atlas
	nuclear translocator	HRE	Hypoxia response element
ARRB1	β-arrestin1 (gene)	HSC/HPC	Hematopoietic stem cell/
ATM	ataxia telangiectasia mutated		progenitor cell
ATR	ATM and Rad related	IGF-1R	Insulin-like growth factor-1
BRCA	Breast cancer (gene)		receptor
CAIX	Carbonic anhydrase IX	IHC	Immunohistochemistry
CAF	Cancer-associated fibroblast	LCIS	Lobular carcinoma in situ
CBP/p300	CREB binding protein	LDHA	Lactate dehydrogenase A
CCND1	Cyclin D1 (gene)	LH	Luteinizing hormone
CDH1	E-cadherin (gene)	LHRH	LH-releasing hormone
CGH	Comparative genomic	LOH	Loss of heterozygosity
	hybridization	MAPK	Mitogen activated protein
CHK1	Checkpoint kinase 1 (gene)		kinase
CIS	Carcinoma in situ	MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
СК	Cytokeratin	MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
CREB	cAMP responsive element	N-CoR	Nuclear receptor co-repressor
	binding protein	NHG	Nottingham histological
CTTN	Cortactin (gene)		grade
DBD	DNA-binding domain	PAK1	p21 activated kinase 1 (gene)
DCIS	Ductal carcinoma in situ	PHD	Prolyl hydroxylase
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
E2	Estradiol	РКА	Protein kinase A
ECM	Extracellular matrix	PR	Progesterone receptor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor	RB	Retinoblastoma (gene)
	receptor	RFS	Recurrence-free survival
EMT	Epithelial-mesenchymal	RTK	Receptor tyrosine kinase
	transition	SERD	Selective estrogen receptor
ER	Estrogen receptor		downregulator
ERE	Estrogen response element	SERM	Selective ER modulator
ERK	Extracellular signal regulated	SN	Sentinel node
	kinase	SRC	Steroid receptor co-activator
FADD	Fas-associated death domain	TAM	Tumor-associated
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase		macrophage
FGFR	Fibroblast growth factor	TCA	Tricarboxylic acid
	receptor	TDLU	Terminal duct lobulo-alveolar
FIH-1	Factor inhibiting HIF-1		unit
FSH	Follicle-stimulating hormone	TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-β
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate	TMA	Tissue microarray
	dehydrogenase	VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth
GPCR	G-protein-coupled receptor		factor
GRK	GPCR kinase	VHL	Von Hippel-Lindau

Introduction to Cancer

Malignant Progression

The transformation of normal cells to malignant cancer cells is a complex multistep process, characterized by an accumulation of various genetic alterations. Malignant progression is thought to involve certain steps allowing the cancer cells to overcome specific cellular mechanisms that would normally prevent them from growing. These growth advantages, due to genetic errors, are crucial for the cancer cell to develop and continue to proliferate ^{1, 2}. Specific traits that denote cancer cells include; the ability to divide despite growth-inhibitory signals, responsiveness to self-supplied growth factors, resistance to apoptotic signaling and a limitless potential of replication. In addition, malignant cells have the unique capability of providing for their own blood supply through induction of angiogenesis, as well as invading the surrounding tissue and entering the circulation in order to metastasize². Genomic instability is a fundamental hallmark of cancer cells and is associated with activation (gain of function) of oncogenes and inactivation (loss of function) of tumor suppressor genes. Oncogenes are cancer-promoting genes and include genes that when overexpressed or expressed as a mutated variant promote tumor cell survival, often as a result of constitutive activation or overexpression of growth factor receptors and signaling components. In contrast, tumor suppressor genes are growth-inhibitory and when inactivated subsequently promote uncontrolled cell growth ³. Both alleles of a tumor suppressor gene have to be lost for a non-functional protein product, whereas oncogene activation occurs if a single allele is genetically altered ⁴. Besides mutations and chromosomal rearrangements, inactivation of tumor suppressor genes can occur via DNA hypermethylation of the gene promoter, and this phenomenon is referred to as epigenetic silencing ⁵. Two additional hallmarks of cancer have recently been proposed; evasion of anoikis - cell death signals mediated by loss of cell-extracellular matrix (ECM) contact, and resistance to local acidification toxicity caused by elevated glucose consumption ⁶.

The Origin of Cancer

Tumor progression is described as a successive accumulation of beneficial genetic alterations leading to clonal expansion of cells. All genetic events required for tumorigenesis do not occur in a single cell, they are rather acquired over time in the

subpopulation of cells originating from the tumor-initiating cell, gradually resulting in an altered phenotype. The evolution of cancer cell populations has been debated in the past decade. Two theories explaining the origin of cancer have been proposed, and these concepts have few similarities. The first, the cancer stem cell hypothesis, which has received a great deal of attention recently, states that only a specific subset of tumor cells are capable of driving tumorigenesis. These cells are referred to as cancer stem cells and are able to self-renew indefinitely as well as differentiate. Tumor heterogeneity is according to this model achieved by the potential of these stem cells to produce any cell type of a tumor. The cancer stem cell is thought to mainly originate from a normal stem or progenitor cell and to constitute only a small fraction of cells in a tumor ⁷⁻⁹. These cells are long-lived and the mutations required to become a tumor cell can accumulate more easily. The last couple of years much evidence supporting this hypothesis has been generated ^{10, 11}. The observed requirement of transplantation of a large number of cells to acquire tumor formation substantiates this model ¹². Furthermore, the cancer stem cells have been suggested to be the source of disease recurrence and treatment failure, two major clinical challenges of cancer therapy today 11

The second, more well-established hypothesis, referred to as the clonal evolution model, states that cancer originates from a random single cell that has acquired multiple mutations, rather than from a stem-like cell. Clonal expansion of this cell, due to a growth advantage, will eventually result in tumor formation. The finding that the pattern of genetic alterations in the metastatic tumor cells in most cases is identical to that of the primary tumor cells supports this model. According to the clonal evolution model the property of self-renewal is an acquired feature, not seen in the cell of origin, whereas the stem cell model suggests that the ability of self-renewal is a feature of the cell of origin. In this model heterogeneity is achieved by additional beneficial mutations in the offspring resulting in new characteristics and subpopulations ^{1, 13, 14}. One hypothesis does not necessarily exclude the other, rather, it is conceivable that they both contribute to tumor progression ¹⁰.

The Normal and Malignant Breast

Breast Development

Development of the mammary gland occurs during puberty, and the epithelium becomes fully matured at pregnancy and lactation in response to hormones ¹⁵. The structure of the female breast is constituted by a branching network of ducts and lobules, surrounded by stromal and adipose tissue (Figure 1). The terminal ducts and lobules are composed of two layers of epithelial cells; the inner polarized luminal epithelial layer and the outer contractile myoepithelial layer ¹⁶. The basement membrane separates the epithelial layers from the stroma. During puberty the ducts begin to branch and terminal end buds, the origin of the terminal duct lobulo-alveolar units (TDLUs) or lobules, begin to form. These TDLUs are composed of alveoli and are the milk-producing units of the breast that become terminally differentiated during lactation. Post lactation involution of the lobules occurs and they return to a stage that resembles that of the non-pregnant gland ¹⁷.

Proliferation of the breast epithelium is to a large extent accounted for by the luminal cell population. The distinct expression pattern of cytokeratins (CKs) distinguishes the luminal (CK 8, 18 and 19) from the myoepithelial (CK 5, 14 and 17) cells ^{18, 19}. Another characteristic of the luminal epithelial cells is the expression of the estrogen receptor (ER) and the progesterone receptor (PR). A distinct subset of these cells (10-20 %) express the two steroid receptors, and these receptors have been shown to co-localize on homogeneously distributed cells of the lobules. Only a low fraction of cells proliferate and these cells do not exhibit steroid receptor expression but are rather adjacent to the receptor expressing cells, that stimulate proliferation in a paracrine fashion ^{20, 21}. In contrast to normal breast tissue, more than 70 % of invasive ductal carcinoma cells express ER, and in this setting these cells are proliferating in response to estrogen ²². Both the luminal and the myoepithelial cells are believed to be derived from a common breast epithelial precursor cell ²³. Breast epithelial stem cells are thought to account for continuous cell renewal during the different stages of breast development. The theory of the adult mammary stem cell was founded in the late 1950s when DeOme and co-workers observed that an entire mammary ductal tree could be reconstituted from epithelial tissue of different regions of the gland when transplanted ²⁴.



Figure 1. Schematic illustration of the breast. The normal breast consists of the functional units; the ducts and lobules (TDLUs) surrounded by adipose and stromal tissue. The lobules are composed of alveoli, the milk-producing units.

Breast Cancer

Epidemiology and Etiology

Breast cancer is the most commonly occurring malignancy in women, with more than one million new cases diagnosed each year, and is one of the leading causes of cancerrelated deaths in women worldwide ²⁵. The lifetime risk of developing breast cancer among Swedish women is 10 %, and the annual incidence approximately 7000 cases. The 5-year breast cancer survival rate is 87 % and the 10-year survival nearly 80 % (The national Board of Health and Welfare, 2009). Breast cancer incidence rates have been increasing over the past two decades, while mortality has decreased. Approximately 5-10 % of breast cancers are the result of genetic predisposition, while the remaining majority represents the sporadic cases. Known risk factors affecting the susceptibility to breast cancer, apart from age and heredity are hormone-related factors such as long-term exposure to hormones and the hormonal milieu. Hormonal risk factors are; early menarche, late menopause, nulliparity, and late age at first full-term pregnancy, as well as exogenous hormones such as oral contraceptives and hormone replacement therapy ²⁶⁻²⁸. Lifestyle factors such as socio-economic status, increased fat-intake, high alcohol consumption and physical inactivity are also potential risk factors ^{29, 30}. One of the major contributing factors to a reduced mortality is mammographic screening, introduced over 30 years ago, which involves routinely screening of women between 50 and 69 years of age ³¹. Accordingly, breast cancers can be detected at an earlier stage and hence, disease progression may be prevented. In addition, implementation of improved treatment protocols, with more effective therapeutics and development of individualized therapy has been pivotal for breast cancer therapy in recent years.

The Biology of Breast Cancer

The majority of breast cancers originate from a relatively short segment of the luminal epithelia of TDLUs, and this region may be a niche where normal stem cells reside ^{32, 33}. The progression from normal breast tissue to invasive cancer generally follows a specific pattern starting with benign proliferative changes, with subsequent evolution to atypical hyperplasia, carcinoma in situ (CIS), invasive carcinoma and finally progression into metastatic disease (Figure 2) ^{34, 35}. Carcinoma in situ is a premalignant lesion of the mammary ducts or lobules (DCIS and LCIS respectively). The most common form of CIS is DCIS and during early stages of the disease there is hyperproliferation of cells that accumulate in the duct lumen, but without disruption of the basement membrane. DCIS is a precursor to invasive ductal carcinoma (Figure 3) and accounts for almost 20 % of all breast carcinomas detected by screening mammography ^{35, 36}. However, at diagnosis approximately 15 % of DCIS patients are also presented with invasive breast cancer ^{37, 38}. Invasive breast cancers are believed to mainly originate from *in situ* carcinomas, and genomic alterations accumulating during breast cancer progression can be traced back to the CIS. The major diagnostic criterion distinguishing an invasive cancer from a CIS is the absence of an intact myoepithelial cell layer. The myoepithelial cells are believed to have a pivotal role in maintaining tissue polarity and are rarely transformed, but may instead be acting as natural tumor suppressor cells ^{39,40}.





Breast cancer is a highly heterogeneous disease both clinically and at the molecular level, making it differ significantly in both prognosis and treatment response between patients. Five major subtypes of breast cancer, revealed by comprehensive gene expression profiling of large sets of tumors by multiple independent groups and technologies have been identified; luminal A, luminal B, HER2⁺/ER⁻, basal-like and normal breast-like ⁴¹⁻⁴³. The different subtypes are evident already at the preinvasive stage and are distinct from the well established subtypes based on histological appearance, described below ⁴⁴. The basal-like subtype, which is mainly ER, PR and HER2-negative (triple-negative) is associated with the worst clinical outcome, and is more prevalent in patients with hereditary disease. The ER⁺ luminal A-type has the best prognosis and is more commonly diagnosed in postmenopausal women ⁴⁵.

The presence of a putative breast cancer stem cell, identified by the expression profile CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low} has been described ^{46, 47}. Interestingly, a high fraction of CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low} cells in a breast tumor may be linked to presence of distant metastasis, however, prevalence of these cells has not been reported to be associated with reduced patient survival ⁴⁸.

As previously described, tumor progression is strictly dependent on genetic alterations, and in breast cancer a vast number of different changes, that favors unrestrained growth, have been identified. Inactivating mutations or loss of the two tumor suppressor genes *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* are specifically linked to hereditary breast cancer, whereas other forms of cancer are associated with a distinct set of specific genetic alterations. Certain genetic alterations such as inactivating mutations of *TP53* or loss of *RB*, as well as oncogenic activation of *MYC* or *CCND1* are commonly observed in a variety of different cancers ^{4, 49-51}.

Prognostics

Tumor Type

The specific subtype of invasive breast cancer is determined at diagnosis and is based on microscopic appearance and growth pattern. The largest subgroup, comprising approximately 75 % of breast cancers, is the invasive ductal carcinoma, while lobular carcinoma represents around 15 %. Some of the smaller remaining subtypes; tubular, medullary, mucinous, papillary, inflammatory and metaplastic breast cancer are each accountable for a very small fraction (1-2 %) ⁵². The histopathological characteristics differ significantly between subtypes and are associated with varying prognostic impact. Moreover, different histological subtypes have been shown to have slightly distinct patterns of genetic alterations ².

Histological Grade

The routinely used Nottingham Histological Grade (NHG) classification is an assessment of three different morphological features; the degree of tubule formation, nuclear pleomorphism and mitotic count, which represents a collective description of differentiation grade. Each parameter is scored as 1, 2 or 3 and the total score sum defines the aggressiveness of the tumor. NHG index I (3-5) defines a well differentiated tumor, NHG II (6-7) a moderately differentiated, and NHG III (8-9) a poorly differentiated tumor ⁵³.

Tumor Stage

By the use of TNM classification (0-IV), further clinical information about the extent and progression of a specific cancer can be obtained. The three parameters primary tumor size (T), lymph node status (N) and metastatic spread (M) are taken into account. Tumor size is based on measurements of the invasive component, where a larger lesion is associated with a worse prognosis. Nodal stage is defined as the number of lymph nodes engaged, where stage I includes patients presented with invasive cancer showing no nodal involvement, and stage III involvement of four or more nodes. A metastatic tumor is defined as a stage IV cancer (Swedish Breast Cancer Group, 2009).

Novel Prognostic Criteria

In order to predict the clinical course of a specific tumor and to be able to individualize breast cancer therapy, gene expression profiling of individual patients can in addition be employed. To date various prognostic tests are available, including the Rotterdam 76-gene set, Invasive Gene Signature, Onco*type* DXTM and MammaPrint^{® 54}.



Figure 3. Immunohistochemical stainings of tissue from different stages of breast cancer development. Invasive ductal carcinoma origins from the normal ducts (left panel). DCIS are often presented with a central necrosis due to poor blood supply of rapidly proliferating cells that accumulate in the duct lumen (middle panel). In the invasive lesion the ductal structures are completely disrupted (right panel).

Breast Cancer Therapy

Surgery

Conventional breast cancer therapy includes removal of the tumor either by mastectomy (removal of the whole breast) or by breast conserving surgery, depending on the extent of the tumor. The treatment option of breast conserving surgery has become the leading treatment of choice, but is indispensable for patients with large tumors or multifocal disease. Since introducing the sentinel node (SN) biopsy, where only the nodes likely to be involved are removed, the number of side effects associated with surgery has been greatly reduced. The SN technique is based on removal and examination of the first axillary lymph node that drains the breast, and if no malignant cells are encountered here it is unlikely that the cancer has spread ⁵⁵.

Radiotherapy

Surgery in combination with local irradiation of the breast will cure the majority of breast cancer patients. The main aim of radiotherapy is to reduce the risk of local recurrence, and it has been shown to significantly improve patient survival ^{56, 57}. Radiotherapy is the standard postoperative treatment for patients receiving breast conserving surgery and is given locally to avoid damage to surrounding tissue.

Chemotherapy

In order to minimize the chances of continued growth of potential residual cells, adjuvant systemic therapy such as chemotherapy or endocrine therapy is administrated to breast cancer patients in most cases. Chemotherapy is the treatment of choice for hormone receptor negative patients and is mainly given as a combination of several different agents, referred to as polychemotherapy, potentially providing a synergistic effect. It is given both in the neo-adjuvant and the adjuvant settings, as well as palliatively. The most commonly used polychemotherapies are CMF (cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, 5-fluorouracil), FEC (5-fluorouracil, epirubicin, cyclophosphamide) and FAC (5-fluorouracil, doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide) ⁵⁸. Additionally, the taxanes docetaxel and paclitaxel are applicable for second-line therapy of advanced disease ⁵⁹. Well-known disadvantages with these agents are resistance and severe toxicity to normal tissue ⁶⁰.

Endocrine Therapy

Standard endocrine therapy for breast cancer patients is based on inhibiting estrogen action, either by blocking ER or by inhibiting estrogen synthesis. At least 70 % of breast cancers express the ER, and since the tumor is dependent on estrogen for maintained growth, interference with the different steps of the estrogen pathway greatly reduces tumor growth. Consequently, ER serves as a clinically useful predictive marker in guidance to treatment of hormone receptor-positive disease ⁶¹. The progesterone receptor is a target of ER transcription and its presence in breast cancer is an indirect marker for functional ER signaling. PR has emerged as an even stronger predictor for endocrine therapy-response than ER, speculatively explaining how some patients showing ER-negative tumors still respond to endocrine therapy ⁶²⁻⁶⁴. The choice of endocrine therapy is mainly based on the menopausal status of the patient. In premenopausal women complete suppression of estrogen synthesis is associated with negative side-effects due to a disrupted systemic hormone balance.

SERMs and SERDs

The selective ER modulator (SERM) tamoxifen (Nolvadex) has been the first-line adjuvant treatment option for ER-positive breast cancers of all stages the past 30 years ⁶⁵. Results from prevention trials have shown that tamoxifen lowers breast cancer incidence by 30-40 % in high-risk patients ⁶⁶. Tamoxifen inhibits the growth-stimulatory effect of estrogen, mediated by competitive binding to ER, and additionally favors recruitment of co-repressors rather than the co-activator recruitment that occurs when estrogen binds to ER. Binding of tamoxifen also results in a receptor conformation distinct from the one caused by estrogen-binding, however dimerization and DNA-binding can still occur ⁶⁷. While acting as an antagonist in breast, tamoxifen has an agonistic effect in bone, uterus and the cardiovascular system ^{68, 69}.

Raloxifene (Evista), another SERM was developed as a treatment for patients with tamoxifen refractory breast cancers ⁷⁰. The efficacy of raloxifene is similar to that of tamoxifen, but it has been suggested to be a safer SERM due to reduced negative effects in endometrial cells ⁷¹.

Pure anti-estrogens, including the selective ER dowregulators (SERDs) have been introduced with the anticipation to overcome the non-beneficial agonistic effects of the SERMs. The steroidal anti-estrogen fulvestrant (Faslodex) is a SERD that binds ER and inhibits dimerization and DNA-binding. It antagonizes both the AF-1 and the AF-2 domains of the ER (detailed below), whereas SERMs only inhibit AF-2, and cause complete suppression of estrogen-dependent gene transcription. Data from clinical trials comparing the efficacy of fulvestrant and tamoxifen show a more efficient blockade of the ER pathway for fulvestrant ^{72, 73}.

Aromatase Inhibitors

An alternative strategy of estrogen deprivation is the use of aromatase inhibitors (AIs), which interfere with the synthesis of estrogens. AIs inhibit the enzyme aromatase, the ultimate source of all steroidal estrogens, which converts androgens to estrogens. These agents are the primary treatment of choice for postmenopausal breast cancer patients, with early and advanced ER-positive disease. The third-generation AIs anastrozole (Arimidex) and letrozole (Femara) are non-steroidal compounds reversibly inhibiting aromatase ⁷⁴. The efficacy of anastrozole has been reported to be higher compared to tamoxifen and it is also better tolerated, in postmenopausal breast cancer patients ^{75, 76}.

HER2 Targeted Therapy

Overexpression of the human epidermal growth factor receptor2 (HER2), often due to amplification of its corresponding gene, is observed in 20-30 % of breast cancers ⁷⁷. HER2 serves both as a prognostic and a treatment predictive marker in breast cancer. The monoclonal antibody trastuzumab (Herceptin), that prevents receptor dimerization and hence blocks signaling, is the first-line treatment option for patients displaying HER2-positive breast cancers. It has recently been recognized that a combination of anti-estrogens and Herceptin may improve survival in hormone receptor-, HER2-positive breast cancer patients, and also reduce the risk of endocrine resistance associated with HER2 overexpression. Alternative anti-HER2 therapeutics include the tyrosine kinase inhibitors lapatinib and gefitinib that block intracellular signaling through HER2 and EGFR ⁷⁸.

Estrogen Receptor Signaling and Endocrine Resistance

Estrogen

Mammary gland development during puberty and onward is governed by hormone signaling, mainly mediated by estrogen and progesterone. Estrogen is a steroid hormone primarily synthesized by the ovaries. Its synthesis is regulated by luteinizing hormone (LH)-releasing hormone (LHRH) released from the pituitary gland. LHRH regulates release of LH and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), which in concert increase intracellular levels of cAMP in the ovary, activating cAMP-response-element-binding protein (CREB). This ultimately results in elevated levels of aromatase, the enzyme that catalyses the conversion of ovarian androgens to estrogens ⁶¹. The predominant estrogen in premenopausal women is 17β -estradiol (E2), whereas estrone is the main estrogen in postmenopausal women. Estrogen regulates a number of biological processes, including proliferation, development and tissue-specific gene regulation in the reproductive tract, central nervous system and bone ⁷⁹. After menopause the production of estrogen from the ovaries ceases, but estrogen is still produced at other sites, such as subcutaneous fat, breast and bone 80. Tissue types that are regulated by estrogen signaling can be divided into two groups; the first or classical in which ERa is expressed at high levels and the second or non-classical where ER α expression is low or even undetectable (detailed below) ²². While playing a critical role in development of the mammary gland and acting as protective mediator against osteoporosis and cardiac disorders, estrogen also promotes development of hormone-dependent breast cancers⁸¹.

Estrogen Receptors

The estrogen receptors exist in two forms, the ER α and the ER β , which are products of two distinct genes located on different chromosomes. The ERs belong to the steroid/thyroid/retinoid hormone superfamily of nuclear receptors and have distinct tissue- and cell-type specific expression patterns. The sequence homology of the DNA-binding domain (DBD) is conserved both structurally and functionally between the two receptors. The N-terminal regions however, differ between ER α and ER β , a proposed explanation for the diversity of responsiveness to different ligands. The ERs contain a constitutively active transcription-activating function; AF-1, located in the N-terminal, and a second estrogen-inducible AF-2 domain located C-terminally (within the ligand-binding domain). The DBD is located in between the AF-1 and AF-2 domains. The activity of the AFs contributes to estrogen-mediated transcription of ER target genes. Binding of estrogen induces a conformational change of the receptor, followed by dimerization and DNA-binding, resulting in recruitment of co-regulators and other transcription factors, ultimately forming the preinitiation complex required for transcriptional activation ⁷⁹. ER-mediated transcription occurs at estrogen response elements (EREs) of target genes, and both ERs have similar affinity for endogenous estrogen and similar specificity and affinity for ERE binding ⁸². Approximately 70 % of ER target genes are downregulated following estrogen stimulation and many of these genes are transcriptional repressors or associated with growth arrest and apoptosis. ER gene transcription can be regulated in different ways, including direct DNA-binding as homo- or heterodimers (classical pathway), or through interaction with other transcription factors, such as activating protein-1 (AP-1) (non-classical pathway).

Expression of ER α is found specifically in the uterus, liver, kidney and heart, whereas ERβ expression is confined to ovary, prostate, lung, gastrointestinal tract and bladder, as well as hematopoietic and central nervous systems. Co-expression of the receptors is observed in mammary gland, epididymis, thyroid gland, adrenal glands, bone and certain regions of the brain ⁷⁹. In the breast, ER α is expressed both in ductal epithelium and stroma, but not in lobular epithelium, whereas expression of ER β can be detected in all three compartments. Knowledge on ERß biology and functionality is limited, and if not specified ER will refer to the ER α in the following paragraphs. The spectrum of ligands vary slightly between ER α and ER β , with some ligands exhibiting preferential binding to one or the other 83 . Moreover, the action of ER α and ER β can be opposing depending on the tissue type, cell type or the nature of the ligand ⁸⁴. Apart from the extensively studied nuclear ER, presence of cytoplasmic and membrane-associated ERs have also been described ^{85, 86}. These extra-nuclear receptors are thought to be derived from the same transcript as the nuclear, but are exported from the nucleus. The membrane-localized ERs signal through kinase cascades as well as other second messengers to induce transcriptional regulation ⁸⁷.

Tamoxifen Resistance

Despite the presence of ER, approximately 50 % of breast cancers develop endocrine resistance, a major clinical limitation in breast cancer therapy ^{88, 89}. The mechanisms behind this phenomenon are being extensively studied, and imply a complex signaling network governing ER function and interaction with various co-regulators ⁹⁰⁻⁹³. Tamoxifen resistance in particular, has been described to be dependent on a vast number of different molecular mechanisms. However, information regarding resistance mechanisms associated with SERDs and AIs is still insufficient. The main predictor of endocrine therapy response is expression of ER, and lack of ER expression is the major mechanism of *de novo* or intrinsic resistance. However, the majority of resistant breast cancers retain expression of ER, and are hence still responsive to a secondline endocrine therapy such as the pure anti-estrogens or AIs ^{94, 95}. However, only 20 % of tamoxifen resistant patients eventually respond to fulvestrant or AIs ^{96, 97}. The opposing effects of tamoxifen observed due to tissue-specificity seem to be dependent on regulation of the AF-1 and AF-2 domains of the ER. Tamoxifen-binding to ER prevents activation through AF-2, but AF-1 mediated transcription can still occur, and this may explain the partial agonism observed for this SERM ⁹⁸. In breast tissue ER transcriptional activity is mainly dependent on AF-2 activation and the effect of tamoxifen is antagonistic, whereas in bone and uterus the activity is mainly AF-1 dependent, resulting in an agonistic action of the drug.

Mechanisms Underlying Tamoxifen Resistance

As previously noted, a large number of potential mechanisms have been suggested to play a role in acquired resistance to endocrine therapy (Figure 4). The milieu of co-regulators seems to be an essential player in the agonist/antagonist profile of tamoxifen ⁹⁹. Several different co-factors associated with ER have been suggested to confer tamoxifen resistance. Phosphorylation of co-activators such as amplified in breast cancer 1 (AIB1), also known as steroid receptor co-activator-3 (SRC-3), enhances the interaction and/or activation of ER, whereas phosphorylation of corepressor such as nuclear receptor co-repressor (N-CoR) inhibits these interactions ¹⁰⁰. AIB1 overexpression, as well as low N-CoR expression has been linked to tamoxifen insensitivity in breast cancer ^{101, 102}. Moreover, high expression of cyclin D1 has been reported to confer tamoxifen resistance ^{103, 104}. Overexpression of cyclin D1 promotes recruitment of SRCs causing estrogen-independent transactivation of ER, resulting in activation of ER target genes ^{105, 106}. Treatment with tamoxifen *in vitro* has been reported to redistribute cyclin D1 biding from a cyclin D1-STAT3 complex to the ER α , resulting in activation of both STAT3 and ER α , supporting the crucial role of cyclin D1 in endocrine resistance ¹⁰⁷.

Another mechanism believed to be involved in tamoxifen resistance is cross-talk between ER and growth factor receptor signaling pathways. ER can be activated by phosphorylation via EGFR, PI3K/AKT and HER2 signaling in a ligand-independent fashion, causing transcriptional activation of ER target genes ¹⁰⁸. Consequently, overexpression of growth factors or constitutively active receptors, often observed in cancer, may render tumor cells resistant to anti-estrogen therapy. ERK has been reported to phosphorylate ER and activate target gene transcription ⁹¹. Furthermore, overexpression of HER2 has been shown to be associated with an impaired tamoxifen response in ER-positive breast cancer *in vitro* ¹⁰⁹. HER2 inhibition with Herceptin, as well as inhibition of MAPK was reported to restore tamoxifen sensitivity in resistant human breast cancer cells expressing high levels of HER2 ¹¹⁰. HER2 overexpression has been described as one of the most well characterized mechanism of endocrine resistance ¹¹¹. Notably, several reports have failed to substantiate this well-established concept ¹¹².

A considerable number of studies have reported tamoxifen resistance to be dependent on specific markers exhibiting an altered expression in breast cancer. For example, loss of PR has been linked to impaired response to tamoxifen ^{63, 113}. Other markers suggested to be involved in clinical insensitivity to tamoxifen are Pak1 and PKA ^{93, 114}. A specific phosphorylation of ER at serine 305 (ERαS305-P) by PKA is linked to an agonistic effect of tamoxifen, due to a conformational change of ER and recruitment of the co-activator SRC-1 *in vitro* ¹¹⁶. Furthermore, ERαS305-P has been associated with resistance to adjuvant tamoxifen in premenopausal breast cancer patients ¹¹⁷.



Figure 4. Schematic representation of mechanisms contributing to tamoxifen resistance. Phosphorylation of ER by components of many different signaling pathways can activate ER in a ligand-independent fashion, abolishing the effect of tamoxifen (TAM). SRC and Cyclin D1 act as co-activators of ER target gene transcription.

Additionally, involvement of ER β in tamoxifen resistance has been reported, implying a beneficial effect on tamoxifen response in patients exhibiting ER β -positive tumors ^{118, 119}. ER itself can also activate other transcription factors and enhance transcription of target genes involved in growth factor signaling pathways ¹²⁰. Moreover, the specific ligand, receptor subtype, receptor phospohrylation and promoter sequence of a certain target gene are all crucial for the balance of a beneficial effect of endocrine agents. Interestingly, mutations in ER are rarely found and are not likely to contribute to endocrine resistance. However, a truncated variant of ER α (ER α 36) has been reported to be linked to reduced responsiveness ¹²¹, as well as a mutation resulting in a hypersensitive ER, that by enhanced binding of co-activators can be activated even at very low estrogen levels ¹²².

In recent years genome-wide gene expression analyses of clinical material have been employed in the search for potential mechanisms of endocrine resistance, and a number of distinct gene signatures predictive for tamoxifen sensitivity in breast cancer patients have been identified. Several biological processes such as proliferation, apoptosis, invasion and cell motility have been implicated in responsiveness, and a number of specific signaling pathways have emerged as particularly important ¹²³. By using this approach for identification of biomarkers a large number of genes are found, but the knowledge about their specific mechanisms in conferring resistance is limited. Future analyses considering the complete biological system of cellular responses and pathways are warranted to gain a better understanding of the intricate mechanisms underlying endocrine resistance.

It is conceivable that different mechanisms are required to confer resistance depending on the specific anti-estrogen administrated. Moreover, changes in the conformation of ER as well as specific phosphorylation patterns seem to play a crucial role for antiestrogen insensitivity. Clinical implications to circumvent endocrine resistance may be to target different co-regulators or signaling pathways involved in ER regulation. The search for predictive markers is constantly expanding, and the main aim is to identify novel strong predictors for tamoxifen response, in order to improve and individualize breast cancer therapy.

Genomic Aberrations at Chromosome 11q

Amplifications and Deletions

Gene amplification is a genetic alteration frequently observed in various cancers and a number of specific chromosomal regions are known to be common targets of this event. Amplification of genes such as *HER2* (17q12), *CCND1* (11q13) and *MYC* (8q24) are found in several different cancers and have been associated with poor prognosis ¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶. The discovery of potential candidate genes responsible for the emergence and maintenance of specific amplified regions has been important in furthering our understanding of carcinogenesis. In addition, deletion of certain chromosomal regions is also commonly described in cancer. Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) at 3p, 7q, 10q, 11q, 13q, 17 and 22q are aberrations frequently involved in breast cancer ¹²⁷. Notably, amplified regions are presumed to include oncogenes, whereas deleted regions include tumor suppressor genes ⁵⁰.

Chromosome 11q: Genetic Events and Gene Products

Numerous studies describe amplification of 11q13 in breast cancer and its association with reduced patient survival ¹²⁸⁻¹³¹. One of the most extensively studied genes included in this chromosomal region is *CCND1*, and this gene in concert with a number of others, such as *FGF3*, *FGF4*, *PAK1*, *FADD* and *CTTN* (cortactin) have been proposed as putative driver genes of this specific amplification. Within the 11q13 locus four different amplicons have been identified, and these can be amplified concurrently as well as independently of each other ^{50, 132-134}. The function and implication in tumor progression denoting some of the gene products involved in the 11q13 amplification event will be outlined below.

Cyclin D1

The *CCND1* gene encodes the cell cycle regulating protein cyclin D1, essential for the progression through G1- into S-phase of the cell cycle. Following complex formation between cyclin D1 and CDK4/6, phosphorylation of the retinoblastoma protein (pRb) occurs and the cell enters the cell cycle ¹³⁵. Expression of cyclin D1 is crucial for lobulo-alveoli formation during normal mammary gland development ^{136, 137}, and deregulation of the protein through overexpression in transgenic mice results in aberrant mammary

development and promotes tumorigenesis ¹³⁸. Cyclin D1 is one of the most frequently overexpressed oncogenes in primary breast cancer ⁵⁰, with elevated expression in approximately 50 % of cases ^{139, 140}. Several studies report cyclin D1 overexpression to be a negative predictor of prognosis ^{141, 142}, whereas others show an association to an ER-positive phenotype and improved clinical outcome ^{103, 140, 143, 144}. In about 15 % of breast cancers overexpression of the protein is due to amplification of its corresponding gene *CCND1* ¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷, and as previously noted, this specific amplification has been linked to poor prognosis ^{131, 148}. Interestingly, overexpression of cyclin D1 has been associated with tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer, and amplification of *CCND1* has furthermore been linked to a potential agonistic effect of tamoxifen in premenopausal breast cancer patients, independently of protein expression levels ^{103, 104}. Based on these evidence, cyclin D1 might serve as a potential treatment predictive marker in breast cancer therapy ¹⁴⁹.

Cortactin

The cortactin gene *CTTN* (also *EMS1*) has been identified as a potential candidate gene responsible for the emergence and maintenance of 11q13 amplification in breast cancer ⁵⁰, and is frequently co-amplified with *CCND1* ¹⁵⁰. Cortactin is an actin-associated scaffolding protein involved in assembly and structure of actin networks ¹⁵¹. It co-localizes with cadherin and β -catenin in adherens junctions, where it has a central role in intracellular adhesion ¹⁵². Cortactin has been observed to localize to lamellipodia at the leading edge of the cell ¹⁵³, and overexpression of the protein has been reported to promote cell motility ¹⁵⁴, as well as invasion and experimental metastasis ¹⁵⁵. Moreover, gene amplification and protein overexpression of cortactin is associated with poor clinical outcome in breast cancer ¹⁵⁶.

FADD

The Fas-associated death domain (FADD) is an adaptor protein that interacts with the cytosolic tail of the Fas receptor, and is involved in receptor-induced apoptosis via recruitment of the initiator caspases-8 and -10 (co-factors of the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC)) ¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁵⁹. FADD has also been implicated in embryonic development and cell cycle control of lymphoid cells ^{160, 161}. The role of FADD in tumorigenesis remains poorly understood, however, protein overexpression has been associated with poor prognosis in lung cancer ¹⁶².

Loss of Distal 11q

Concurrently with amplification of 11q13, loss of heterozygosity (LOH) at the distal end of chromosome 11q has been described ¹⁶³. This genetic event is closely related to the amplification of 11q13 and has been suggested as equally significant in predicting poor clinical outcome as the amplification ^{164, 165}. Cell lines exhibiting loss of distal chromosome 11q exhibit defective DNA damage recognition and repair,

which might be explained by the loss of several genes critical for a functional DNA damage response pathway, such as ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) (11q22.3) and H2AFX (11q23.2-11q23.3) ¹⁶⁴. These cells also show chromosomal instability further implying potentially increased cancer susceptibility and therapy resistance. Moreover, deletions at distal chromosome 11q has been described in various malignancies such as ovarian, esophageal, cervical, prostate and breast cancer, and this deletion has been associated with reduced patient survival ¹⁶⁶⁻¹⁷¹.

Chk1

CHK1, one of the potential cancer-associated genes included in the 11q deletion, encodes the protein serine/threonine kinase, checkpoint kinase 1 (Chk1), a major cell cycle checkpoint regulator ^{172, 173}. In response to DNA damage the ATM and Rad3 related (ATR) kinase phosphorylates and activates Chk1, which in turn phosphorylates and inhibits the tyrosine phosphatases Cdc25A/C, regulating inhibitory phosphorylation sites on cyclin-dependent kinases, ultimately resulting in cell cycle arrest ¹⁷⁴. Chk1 is essential for maintenance of genomic integrity and plays a fundamental role in mammalian development ^{175, 176}. High Chk1 expression has been linked to high grade triple-negative breast cancers ¹⁷⁷. Given the crucial role of Chk1 in the G1/S and G2/M checkpoints, inhibition of Chk1 has been investigated as an approach for cancer treatment, by potentiating the efficacy of chemotherapeutic agents, through abrogation of the cell cycle checkpoints ^{178, 179}. To date, a number of Chk1-inhibitors have been evaluated in clinical trials, but not yet proven to be useful anti-cancer therapeutics ¹⁸⁰.

β -arrestin1

ARRB1 is another gene that maps to the 11q13 chromosomal locus ¹⁸¹. This gene encodes the protein β -arrestin1 which belongs to a small gene family consisting of four arrestins; arrestin1 and arrestin4 (x-arrestins), and arrestin2 (β-arrestin1) and arrestin3 $(\beta$ -arrestin2). Arrestin 1 and 4 are exclusively expressed in retinal rods and cones respectively, while β -arrestin1 and 2 are expressed in virtually all tissues ¹⁸². β -arrestins are versatile adaptor proteins that regulate the signaling and trafficking of G-proteincoupled receptors (GPCRs) following their activation and phosphorylation by GPCR kinases (GRKs) 183 . The binding of β -arrestin sterically prevents further G-protein signaling and hence desensitizes the receptor 184 . In recent years the role of β -arrestins in cell signaling has been extensively studied and their function as scaffold proteins that interact with a number of different signaling molecules has emerged ^{182, 185, 186}. Signaling pathways reported to be modulated by β -arrestins include TGF- β , IGF-1R, PI3K and MAPK pathways ^{187, 188}. Activation of the MAPK cascade induces changes in diverse cellular functions, such as differentiation, proliferation, cell motility and survival, and by acting as scaffolds for components of the MAPK signaling pathway β -arrestins may contribute to tumorigenesis ¹⁸⁹.

Single knockout mice for either β -arrestin1 or β -arrestin2 do not display grossly abnormal phenotypes, whereas a double knockout variant results in embryonic lethality ¹⁹⁰. Furthermore, β -arrestin1 has been implicated in promotion of tumor growth, as well as in cell migration *in vitro* and metastatic spread to the liver *in vivo* ^{188, 191, 192}. The potential involvement of *ARRB1* in 11q13 amplification has not been described, but this gene is likely to be affected by the genetic events occurring at this chromosome, and hence β -arrestin1 may play a role in the clinical outcome of various cancers.

Tumor Hypoxia

Clinical Definition of Hypoxia

Solid tumors are frequently presented with areas of reduced oxygen pressure, referred to as hypoxia. In normal, well-vascularized tissue the oxygen levels are approximately 5-6 %, whereas tumor tissue can exhibit oxygen levels below 1 % ¹⁹³. Hypoxia occurs at early stages of tumorigenesis and is commonly observed in non-invasive malignant lesions ¹⁹⁴. As tumors grow and expand, cells that reside more than 150 µm away from the capillaries will be subjected to an inadequate oxygen supply, thus for survival they need do adapt to these limiting conditions ¹⁹⁵. A rapidly expanding tumor requires its own vasculature, but the high rate of vessel formation results in an abnormal vascular network. Consequently, regions of necrosis can often be observed in solid tumors caused by disturbed microcirculation, unable to supply the tumor cells with oxygen.

HIF-1a Regulation

The master regulators of hypoxia are the hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs), which are stabilized in response to low oxygen levels and subsequently induce transcription of target genes involved in the hypoxic response (Figure 5). The key regulatory factor is the heterodimeric transcription factor HIF-1 consisting of the HIF-1 α and the HIF-1 β subunits ¹⁹⁶. In the presence of oxygen the HIF-1 α subunit is continuously eliminated through targeting for proteasomal degradation by the tumor suppressor protein Von Hippel-Lindau (VHL). Post-translational modification of HIF-1a by the oxygen dependent prolyl hydroxylases (PHDs) promotes the interaction with VHL, which is part of a protein complex including a number of other proteins such as elongin-B and C, and the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E3¹⁹⁷. Hydroxylation by the PHDs at two proline residues of HIF-1 α , and further acetylation of a lysine residue in the oxygen-dependent degradation domain (ODDD) of the protein, is required for the association with VHL¹⁹⁸. When oxygen is absent the PHDs are inactivated and no ubiquitination and subsequent degradation of HIF-1 α will occur. This stabilization of HIF-1 α results in its translocation to the nucleus and transcriptional activation of target genes. In the nucleus HIF-1 α dimerizes with its constitutively expressed binding partner HIF-1 β or aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (ARNT) to form the active transcription factor HIF-1. Additional co-factors such as CBP/ p300 are also recruited to the hypoxia response elements (HREs) in the enhancer and

promoter regions of target genes ¹⁹⁹. HIF-1 α has two paralogs termed HIF-2 α and HIF-3 α , which are closely related to HIF-1 α . These also dimerize with HIF-1 β and regulate transcription of target genes, which for HIF-2 α partially overlap with those kown to be regulated by HIF-1 α ²⁰⁰. Approximately 2 % of the human genome has been reported to be targeted by active HIF-1²⁰¹, and it is noteworthy that these genes are involved in biological processes crucial for tumor development, potentially explaining why hypoxic tumors are often more aggressive that their oxygenated counterparts. Another major mechanism controlling the activity of HIF-1 α is the factor inhibiting HIF-1 (FIH-1), which prevents the interaction of HIF-1 α with CBP/p300²⁰². FIH-1 is activated in response to an oxygen level that is lower than the one required for PHD activation ²⁰³.



Figure 5. Schematic illustration of HIF-1 α regulation in normoxia and hypoxia. When oxygen is present HIF-1 α is ubiquitinated and degraded. In hypoxia when the PHDs are inactive HIF-1 α translocates to the nucleus where it interacts with HIF-1 β to form the active transcription factor HIF-1. Several additional mechanisms besides hypoxia, such as activation of oncogenes of growth factor stimulation, have been described to activate HIF-1 target gene transcription.

The Hypoxic Response

Hypoxia-inducible gene products facilitate adaptation to the limited oxygen supply, and are involved in numerous biological processes including proliferation, metabolism, apoptosis, chromosomal integrity, angiogenesis and migration, all of which are essential mechanisms deregulated in tumorigenesis. In order to adapt to the hypoxic conditions cancer cells take advantage of various hypoxia-induced growth-promoting signals, and cells that modify cellular mechanisms optimally for survival are selected. The hypoxic

response governed by HIF-1 is complex and the repertoire of genes affected and pathways regulated differs depending on cell type or tissue. A main requirement for cells exposed to hypoxia is reduction of energy consumption, hence hypoxic cells switch from the high energy producing, oxygen-dependent tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle to the more energy conserving oxygen-independent glycolysis. Various enzymes involved in the glycolytic pathway are regulated by hypoxia, including lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA) and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH). Other factors involved in metabolism that are affected are the glucose transporters GLUT1 and GLUT3, as well as carbonic anhydrase IX (CAIX), a commonly used marker for hypoxia ^{194, 204}. Degradation of the ECM at the invasive stage of tumorigenesis is facilitated by secretion of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), which are also induced by hypoxia ²⁰⁵. A central biological process affected by hypoxia is angiogenesis, the mechanism by which tumors are able to establish their own vasculature for supply of oxygen and nutrients. The key factor regulating angiogenesis is vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and increased expression of this specific protein is a common feature of hypoxic cells. Hypoxia has also been shown to promote gene amplification and DNA breaks, and to affect DNA damage response signaling ^{206, 207}.

Hypoxia in Cancer

Numerous additional mechanisms have been described to regulate the stability and activity of HIF-1 α , such as direct phosphorylation of the protein, which has been reported to occur both under normoxic and hypoxic conditions. The MAPK pathway is involved in HIF-1 α phosphorylation together with the PI3K signaling pathway ^{203,} ²⁰⁸. Activation of oncogenes such as *HER2*, or loss of function of the tumor suppressor genes *VHL* and *PTEN*, are also potential regulatory mechanisms affecting HIF-1 α synthesis and degradation, resulting in stabilization of the protein and target gene activation, mimicking the effect of hypoxia ²⁰⁹⁻²¹¹.

The mechanism underlying hypoxic regulation of tumor progression and metastasis is a key process in cancer biology and it has been extensively studied in the last two decades. Tumor hypoxia has been associated with a clinically more aggressive phenotype in various cancers ²¹²⁻²¹⁵. Furthermore, by using HIF-1 α as a marker for hypoxia approximately 25-40 % of invasive breast cancers are by definition hypoxic, and a small fraction are presented with regions of around 0.1 % oxygen, referred to as severe hypoxia. HIF-1 α has been identified as an independent prognostic marker in several studies including breast cancer patients ²¹⁶⁻²²⁰.

Tumor hypoxia is associated with treatment failure, hence represents a condition which requires specialized therapeutic options. There are several fundamental problems underlying therapy resistance in patients with hypoxic tumors. Presence of oxygen is essential for the effect of radiotherapy, through production of the free radicals that destroy tumor cells ²²¹. Delivery of chemotherapeutic compounds to a hypoxic

tumor is also limited due to the abnormal vasculature that results in poor perfusion ^{222, 223}. Moreover, hypoxic cells generally have a low proliferation rate, which further reduces the efficiency of cytotoxic drugs ²²⁴. Accordingly, therapeutics directed against hypoxic tumors need to meet requirements such as high delivery efficiency and specificity, as well as selective cytotoxicity to represent good candidates. Alternative treatment strategies for hypoxic tumors, including cytotoxic compounds that are converted to active metabolites only under oxygen-limited conditions, referred to as bioreductive drugs, is an example of a novel approach to the treatment of hypoxic tumors ²²⁵. Additionally, drugs that target HIF-1 α directly or targeting signaling pathways involved in the hypoxic response are also being considered as novel cancer therapeutics. Screening for potential HIF-1 inhibitors has revealed that a number of traditional anti-cancer agents are actual inhibitors of HIF-1, and these include topoisomerase I inhibitors, microtubule-targeting drugs and anthracyclines ²²⁶⁻²²⁸. A clinical challenge of cancer therapy is to identify which patients would benefit from a combination of conventional therapy and HIF-1 inhibitors. The effect of this combination therapy is still uncertain and the therapeutic effect may be manifested differently between patients. A number of novel HIF-1 inhibitors have been identified and clinical trials are warranted to determine any additional potential therapeutical benefit of these compounds ²²⁹.

Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition

The Concept of EMT

Solid tumors have been described to metastasize through conversion of epithelial cells into more fibroblast-like cells, via a biological process referred to as epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT)^{230, 231}. EMT is an essential cellular mechanism during embryogenesis when the body plan is created and organs start to form ²³². In the last decade the role of a pathological activation of EMT in tumorigenesis has been extensively studied and an immense amount of data supporting this hypothesis has been published. During progression to the metastatic state tumor cells are described to acquire a mesenchymal gene expression pattern as well as a spindle-shaped fibroblastlike morphology which enhances motility ²³³.

Epithelial tissue is characterized by formation of polarized layers, which are adjoined by cell-cell junctions such as tight, gap and adherens junctions, and desmosomes. Cadherins are important for stabilization of these junctional complexes, in particular E-cadherin ²³⁴. Important hallmarks of EMT are loss of polarity and cell-cell adhesion, as well as increased migratory capacity, which results from detachment from neighboring cells. Functional loss of E-cadherin occurs early during EMT, and this is a crucial event in the reorganization of tissue structure that characterizes this biological process ²³³. Other epithelial-specific genes downregulated are components of the tight junctions, including claudins and occludin, as well as the desmosomal components desmoglein (cadherin) and desmoplakin ^{235, 236}. The majority of EMT-inducing signals exert their action through modulation of transcription factors involved in either repression of epithelial-specific genes or activation of genes important for cell motility and invasiveness, resulting in induction of the EMT-programme (Figure 6) ^{233, 237}.

Regulation of EMT

Growth factors are the natural inducers of EMT during embryogenesis and since growth factor-signaling is deregulated in tumorigenesis, this can result in a pathological activation of EMT-inducing signaling pathways. Growth factors are provided by the tumor cells themselves or by surrounding stromal cells ²³³. An extensive crosstalk between different signaling pathways has been described in EMT, and many pathways have the common endpoint of E-cadherin downregulation. Central signaling

cascades in the induction of EMT include activation of RTKs such as EGFR 238 and FGFR 239 , as well as the Wnt 240 , Notch 241 and TGF- β pathways 242 .

Several transcription factors with a key role in EMT-induction have been identified and these include Snail ²³², Slug ²⁴³, Twist ²⁴⁴, E12/E47 ²⁴⁵, δ EF1/ZEB1 ²⁴⁶ and SIP1/ZEB2 ²⁴⁷. These transcription factors share a similar basic molecular mechanism of repression, binding to conserved E-box sequences in the promoter of the E-cadherin (*CDH1*) and other epithelial-specific genes. Snail and Slug belong to the Snail superfamily of zinc-finger transcription factors that have a functional role in transcriptional repression of the E-cadherin gene ²³².



Figure 6. Schematic representation of the mechanisms regulating EMT. A number of signaling pathways resulting in repression of the E-cadherin gene transcription are involved in EMT-induction. Downregulation of E-cadherin and other epithelial-type specific proteins is mediated by different transcriptional repressors, such as Snail, and results in a transition from an epithelial to a mesenchymal phenotype. The EMT-programme includes upregulation of proteins important for invasion and metastasis, e.g. vimentin and MMPs.

The E-cadherin Repressor Snail

Snail is a highly unstable protein, which is degraded due to phosphorylation by glycogen synthase kinase- 3β (GSK- 3β). In addition, GSK- 3β regulates subcellular localization of Snail, and by phosphorylation of a consensus motif, distinct from the one involved in ubiquitination, Snail is retained in the cytoplasm ²⁴⁸. Furthermore, regulation of ER α is mediated by the direct binding of Snail to EREs of the promoter of ER target genes, resulting in transcriptional inactivation ²⁴⁹. Several additional mechanisms and functional mediators involved in Snail transcriptional activity and localization have been described ²³⁷. In breast cancer elevated Snail expression has been associated with a poor clinical outcome ²⁵⁰⁻²⁵².

A number of reports describe an *in vitro* induction of Snail and Slug accompanied by decreased expression of E-cadherin, as well as enhanced invasive and migratory capacity in hypoxia ²⁵³⁻²⁵⁶. These data imply a crucial role for hypoxia in the induction of EMT, favoring the progression and invasive properties of cancer cells. Moreover, hypoxia has been shown to regulate EMT via Notch-induced Snail expression, by direct binding of the intracellular domain of Notch to the Snail promoter. Notch also mediates recruitment of HIF-1 α to the lysyl oxidase (LOX) promoter, resulting in increased LOX transcription, which in turn stabilizes the Snail protein ²⁵⁷.

Novel Theories on EMT and Cancer

Recent studies have demonstrated a direct link between EMT and stem cells, implying that EMT generates cells with stem cell properties. Ectopic expression of Snail or Twist can promote EMT in both non-transformed and transformed mammary cells, where it induces a stem cell marker expression profile as well as rendering cells able to self-renew. Furthermore, stem cell-like cells isolated from normal mammary glands or breast carcinomas show increased expression of EMT markers, such as Snail, Slug and Twist ²⁵⁸. In accordance with this finding, cancer stem cells potentially generated by EMT have been identified at invasive regions of tumors ²⁵⁹.

Notably, the relevance of EMT in cancer progression has been debated in resent years ²⁶⁰⁻²⁶². EMT is considered to be a transient and reversible process and does not necessarily account for all the steps required for tumor progression via invasion and metastatic spread. Several studies describe a partial or incomplete EMT phenotype of advanced carcinomas, displaying some mesenchymal features, but with a retention of well-differentiated epithelial cell characteristics ²⁶¹.

The Tumor Microenvironment and Metastasis

Tumor Metastasis

The primary cause of death for the majority of cancer patients is the development of metastatic disease ²⁶³. In breast cancer, 10-15 % of patients develop distant metastasis within three years of diagnosis, and approximately 30 % will eventually be presented with recurrent, advanced or metastatic disease ²⁶⁴. A series of discrete biological events characterizes tumor metastasis and these include the movement of tumor cells from the primary tumor to a distant site of the body ²⁶⁵. The first criteria of metastasis is the invasion of surrounding tissue, and this involves changes in adherence to neighboring cells and to the ECM, proteolytic degradation of tissue, and finally enhanced cell motility. Invasion is facilitated by altering the expression of ECM-interacting integrins, immunoglobulin superfamily receptors and surface proteoglycans, as well as the cell-cell interacting proteins cadherins (E-cadherin to N-cadherin). Degradation of surrounding tissue is mediated by secretion of MMPs, cathepsins and heparanases ^{266,} ²⁶⁷. Cell motility is induced by growth factor activation of RTKs, leading to interaction of the RTKs with integrins which in turn stimulates focal adhesion kinase (FAK)-Src complex formation. This complex-formation promotes cell motility via rearrangements of the actin cytoskeleton, and formation of lamellipodia that are crucial for forward movement. Following invasion the tumor cells need to enter the bloodstream or the lymphatics, arrest and adhere to the vessel wall and extravasate into the tissue at the new site. The last step of metastasis is colonization, an event strictly dependent on interactions with the microenvironment at the distant location ²⁶⁵. Gene expression profiling has revealed candidate genes or gene signatures associated with metastasis, serving as putative prognostic factors in human cancers ^{268, 269}.

Components of the Tumor Microenvironment

The microenvironment is an important feature influencing the development of cancer, via extensive communication between tumor cells and the surrounding stroma. Paracrine signaling mediated by a vast number of cytokines and growth factors that promote proliferation, invasiveness and metastatic potential is the foundation of tumor progression ²⁷⁰. The stromal compartment is constituted by several distinct cell types, such as immune and inflammatory cells, fibroblasts and vascular cells, and the relative abundance of each cell type differs depending on the local tumor site ²⁷¹.

These cell types have been observed at the invasive front of tumors, contributing to the leading edge and hence enhancing infiltration ^{272, 273}. In order to create a permissive environment, cancer cells have the ability to alter their surroundings, and the stromal compartment of a tumor is referred to as reactive tumor stroma ²⁷⁴. This reactive stroma promotes activation of a number of different cell types, including the cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs). CAFs are mesenchymal-like cells that share characteristics with smooth-muscle cells and fibroblasts, and these cells enhance tumor progression by creating a supportive microenvironment for the malignant cells. CAFs regulate ECM deposition, recruit inflammatory mediators and also play a role in the induction of EMT, which in turn promotes tumor invasion ^{275, 276}. Interestingly, experimental models have shown that impaired fibroblast motility results in reduced growth and metastatic spread of tumor cells ²⁷⁷. In addition to CAFs, another celltype recruited to the tumor stroma is the tumor-associated macrophage (TAM). TAMs are essential for stimulation of tumor cell invasion, migration and angiogenesis, and hence also contribute to the reactive stroma ²⁷⁸.

The Pre-Metastatic Niche

A prerequisite for metastasis is successful dissemination of tumor cells or "seed", and the influence of the "congenial soil" or tumor microenvironment at the metastatic site plays a crucial role in this complex series of events ²⁷⁹. The bone marrow-derived hematopoietic progenitor cell (HPC) has in recent years been recognized as an essential initiator of tumor metastasis, priming distant tissues for tumor cell implantation. These cells are believed to make up a so called pre-metastatic niche, by preconditioning the microenvironment for promotion of tumor metastasis, even before tumor cells can be found ^{280, 281}. Changes in the local tumor stroma induced by secreted signaling mediators direct recruitment of bone marrow-derived cells needed for development of new vessels. Interestingly, clusters of HPCs in normal tissue that are common sites of metastasis have been observed in breast cancer patients, even before histological evidence of tumor ²⁸⁰. These findings imply a crucial role for metastatic priming and accordingly, a way of identifying patients likely to suffer disease recurrence. However, only 50 % of breast cancer patients presented with micrometastatic disease of the bone marrow eventually develop metastasis ²⁸². This might be explained by tumor cell dormancy, which means that the malignant cells are quiescent, and need a stimulatory signal to re-enter the cell cycle.

In order to establish a bone metastasis, unlike spreading to any other organ, tumor cells need to induce bone resorption by engaging the specialized osteocytes, which promote degradation of this calcified tissue ²⁸³. The milieu of signaling factors that promote cancer-initiation resembles the natural environment of hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) and HPCs, and hence metastasizing to bone observed for various cancers is not surprising. Specific chemokine repertoires can predict tissue-specific tropism of tumor metastasis. Breast, ovarian, prostate and brain cancers are osteotropic

cancers, in which cancer cells home to the distant site in a CXCR4⁺-dependent manner ²⁸⁴⁻²⁸⁷. The bone marrow has been described as an "educator" of tumor cells, rendering them more prone to survive and potentially also more aggressive ²⁸⁸.

In addition to the bone marrow-derived HPCs, recruitment of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) to tumor stroma has lately been given a great deal of attention. The MSC is a pluripotent stem/progenitor cell, distinct from the hematopoietic lineage, which is responsible for the maintenance and regeneration of various connective tissues, residing predominantly in the bone marrow ²⁸⁹. These cells have been suggested as a quiescent source of stem cells in a number of different tissues, and have been reported to promote metastasis ²⁷⁸. Bone marrow-derived human MSCs enhanced tumor metastasis of weakly metastatic breast cancer cells in an experimental setting ²⁹⁰.

Tumor Stroma and Clinical Aggressiveness

Genomic alterations in cancer-associated stromal cells have in recent years been demonstrated to predict clinical outcome in a number of different cancers. In one study, gene analysis of stroma isolated from DCIS and invasive breast cancers revealed frequent loss of 11q21-23, 3p14.2, 16q23-24 and 17q24, suggesting that genetic alterations of the stroma contribute to tumorigenesis ²⁹¹. Further studies have confirmed the finding of stromal specific LOH in different tumor types ²⁹²⁻²⁹⁴, as well as identifying stromal gene signatures, associated with tumor aggressiveness ²⁹⁵⁻ ²⁹⁷. Genes commonly reported to be upregulated in stroma include ECM components and MMPs, genes that mediate stromal remodeling, and genes associated with hypoxia and TAM immune response. Several explanations to how genetic changes in the stroma can reflect tumor aggressiveness have emerged, and it has been suggested that a genetic co-evolution of tumor and adjacent stromal cells occurs. Two different hypotheses describing the co-evolution of tumor and stromal cells have been proposed; one suggests that transformation of stromal cells occurs first and result in proliferation of epithelial cells, whereas the other implies initial changes of epithelial cells followed by changes in the stroma ²⁹⁸.

By considering the essential role of the tumor microenvironment in tumorigenesis, we might gain better insight into the complex pathological mechanisms that underlie cancer development. This could potentially improve treatment management for advanced disease and subsequently reduce mortality. The reactive tumor stroma is an attractive clinical drug target, and by disrupting this intricate signaling system and "normalizing" the stroma, tumor progression might be slowed down. This promising approach has been reported to reverse the progression of breast cancer cells *in vitro* ²⁹⁹. Interestingly, both tamoxifen and letrozole has been shown to not only effect epithelial tumor cells but also act on stromal cells ^{300, 301}.

Perspectives of Breast Cancer

Breast cancer is a highly heterogeneous disease, representing several distinct histological as well as genetic subtypes, and at the molecular level a vast number of genetic alterations distinguishing between patients have been identified. However, some characteristics of breast cancer known to be associated with poor prognosis or resistance to certain therapies can be used to guide the therapeutical management, and these include features such as histological grade, tumor stage and expression of ER and PR. In the past decade it has been recognized that the environment surrounding the tumor has to be taken into account in tumor biology, nevertheless, adding further complexity to the story. Without the influence of the microenvironment a cancer would not progress, and hence this aspect of tumorigenesis is crucial both in prognostics and for therapeutic implications. Another aspect is tumor hypoxia, and the knowledge on the complex mechanisms underlying hypoxia-induced tumor progression is constantly expanding. Moreover, in recent years significant advances in our understanding of the molecular mechanisms behind EMT and its importance in cancer have been made. Gaining mechanistic insights into basic cellular processes involved in tumorigenesis will bring us closer to improved treatment strategies, including individualized therapies and minimizing the side effects associated with cancer therapeutics. Recurrence of endocrine resistant disease is a major clinical challenge and therefore identification of drug targets, as well as selecting patients likely to benefit from certain treatments are important clinical anticipations.

The Present Investigation

Aims

The general objective of this thesis was to identify biomarkers with potential prognostic significance and predictive value regarding tamoxifen treatment response in primary breast cancer. An additional main aim was to investigate the regulation of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in hypoxic breast cancer cells.

Specific Aims

- Identification of biomarkers associated with *CCND1* gene amplification, with potential involvement in tamoxifen resistance in premenopausal breast cancer patients.
- Elucidating the impact of hypoxia on regulation of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer cell lines, and determining the importance of Snail as a prognostic and treatment predictive marker in breast cancer.
- Delineating the putative role of β-arrestin1 in clinical aggressiveness and tamoxifen response in pre- and postmenopausal breast cancer patients.

Results and Discussion

Clinical Relevance of the Present Investigation: Identifying Putative Markers for Prognosis and Prediction of Tamoxifen Response in Breast Cancer Patients (Paper I-III)

Despite the extensive research in the field of breast cancer it persists as a critical health burden. The ongoing search for putative biomarkers aims to identify clinically useful tools, in anticipation of improving therapeutic management and increasing patient survival with both early-stage and advanced disease. Tamoxifen remains the first-line treatment option for premenopausal breast cancer patients, and the process of selecting patients susceptible to this form of adjuvant therapy constantly needs to be refined. Endocrine resistance is a major clinical challenge and by distinguishing patients, that based on expression of certain biomarkers, are unlikely to respond to anti-estrogens, the goal of individualized breast cancer therapeutics may be attained more readily. A number of criteria need to be fulfilled and extensive research is required to successfully discover a novel prognostic or treatment predictive marker.

Each study of the present investigation has a diverging main focus, but they all attempt to elucidate the importance of identifying putative biomarkers, to gain a more comprehensive understanding of breast tumor biology and potentially identify patients unlikely to benefit from treatment with adjuvant tamoxifen. The analyses performed in paper I-III are retrospective studies of a patient cohort of 564 premenopausal breast cancer patients randomized to either two years of adjuvant tamoxifen or no adjuvant therapy. All patients included in the original prospective trial were presented with stage II invasive disease and were irrespective of hormone status randomly assigned to receive either tamoxifen or no adjuvant treatment. The original study aimed to compare survival between patients receiving tamoxifen and untreated patients. At present, the majority of breast cancer patients with invasive disease receive some kind of adjuvant therapy, making this patient cohort unique and a powerful tool in the search for treatment predictive markers. In paper III an additional breast cancer patient cohort was analyzed for expression of a specific biomarker. This cohort included 179 pre- and postmenopausal patients presented with invasive disease, and was designed as a screening cohort for antibodies in the Human Protein Atlas (HPA) program (detailed in paper III). Tumor tissue samples were available for 500 of the patient included in the randomized cohort and for all patients in the screening cohort. By employing the tissue microarray (TMA) technology, TMAs representing these patients had previously been constructed (Figure 7). The TMA technology is a commonly used method for high-throughput analyses of protein expression in large-scale tumor materials. For both tumor materials used in these studies two tissue core biopsies from each patient were retrieved from the donor paraffin block and transferred to the recipient block. Each recipient paraffin block contains tissue core biopsies corresponding to 50-100 patients. Extensive sectioning

of the paraffin blocks over time has resulted in a diminishing number of tissue cores in the large cohort, and hence a reduced number of patients were available for analysis. A slight over-representation of lobular cancers and cancers of low grade was observed among the missing cases, but regarding recurrence there was no difference between available and missing cases. Importantly, expression of the specific markers analyzed in these studies did not differ between the duplicate cores representing each patient, in the majority of cases. A major technical problem concerning studies describing potential biomarkers is the methodological discrepancy, including tissue processing, choice of antibodies and the statistical approaches used. In order to circumvent this issue certain guidelines for handling of biomarker studies was published in 2005 ³⁰². This study provides recommendations for study design and accurate presentation of data, to facilitate comparison of similar clinical studies.



Figure 7. Representation of a TMA with tissue cores displaying different expression levels of the protein immunohistochemically stained for.

Loss of Chk1 is Associated with Amplification of CCND1 and Impaired Tamoxifen Response in Premenopausal Breast Cancer Patients (Paper I)

Amplification of chromosome 11q13 is a well-established cause of oncogenic activation, reported to occur in various cancers. The search for genes included in this genetic alteration that might be linked to clinical outcome has resulted in identification of a number of different markers, found at this chromosomal locus ^{142, 156, 162}. The studies performed in paper I are based on the previous finding that *CCND1* amplification was associated with an agonistic effect of tamoxifen in the randomized patient cohort. Elevated protein expression of cyclin D1 conferred tamoxifen resistance in these patients despite ER-positivity, but the agonistic effect was exclusively observed in patients exhibiting the amplification. Speculatively, altered protein expression of an additional marker associated with the amplification might be responsible for the

agonistic action of tamoxifen. In order to characterize putative markers suitable for immunohistochemistry (IHC) analysis, we selected three distinct genes known to be involved in the 11q13 amplification event; *CTTN*, *FADD* and *CHK1* (loss of distal 11q), based on an array comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) screen. Array CGH is a molecular cytogenetic technique that offers a systematic approach to obtaining profiles of chromosomal aberrations within single tumor specimens. The microarrays employed contain large insert size genomic clones and hence a genomewide search for genes exhibiting altered copy number levels can be performed.

For this study protein analyses were performed in the randomized cohort. Following antibody validation, IHC was employed for each marker and stainings were assessed based on staining intensity (cortactin and FADD: cytoplasmic and Chk1: nuclear), whereas for Chk1 an additional evaluation of percentage positive nuclei was made. Protein expression was scored as 0-3, based on staining intensity, for all three markers and as 0-5, 6-10, 11-25, 26-50 and 51-100 % positive nuclei for Chk1. For subsequent statistical analyses staining intensity was subcategorized as low (0-1) and high (2-3) for cortactin and FADD. Data for cyclin D1 and Pak1, which were also included in the analyses, had been evaluated in previous studies ^{93, 104}. Cyclin D1 nuclear intensity was also assessed as low versus high, whereas for Pak1 nuclear positivity was evaluated, scored as negative or positive nuclei. For Chk1 which predominantly resides in the nucleus the variable of positive nuclei, further subcategorized as 0-5, 6-50 and 51-100 %, was used for the statistical analyses.

The outcome of the statistical analyses performed revealed an association for all markers, including Pak1, with CCND1 amplification, supporting the hypothesis that co-amplification of CTTN, FADD and PAK1 with CCND1 could also be represented at the protein level. Furthermore, Chk1 protein expression inversely correlated to CCND1 amplification, confirming the frequent loss of distal 11q concurrently with 11q13 amplification. High expression of Chk1 was associated with a more aggressive breast cancer phenotype, defined by tumor size, grade and proliferation rate, in line with previous findings ¹⁷⁷. However, Chk1 expression had no impact on recurrence-free survival (RFS) in the patient cohort. High FADD expression, but not high expression of cortactin, was linked to a reduced RFS in untreated patients. Moreover, expression of neither cortactin nor FADD was associated with an altered tamoxifen response. In order to specify loss of Chk1 expression a new subcategorizing in which patients representing low Chk1 expression as well as accurate expression of the proliferation marker Ki67, constituted one subgroup. The intimate link between cell cycle activity and checkpoint induction was confirmed by a positive correlation between Chk1 and Ki67, implying low checkpoint activity as proliferation is low. Accordingly, the new Chk1 parameter was constructed to exclude false negative Chk1 low patients, exhibiting low Chk1 expression as a result of low proliferation. The new variable was employed in the survival analyses, with the anticipation to better represent CHK1

loss. Chk1 expression, defined as normal or deviant (low Chk1 expression and intermediate Ki67 expression), based on the new subgroups, was found to impact upon tamoxifen response. In patients with tumors of deviant Chk1 expression the effect of tamoxifen was impaired, implying that loss of the *CHK1* gene may identify patients less likely to respond to this form of adjuvant therapy. However, the agonistic effect of tamoxifen observed for patients exhibiting *CCND1* amplified tumors was not due to loss of Chk1 expression.

The biological mechanisms rendering patients with tumors of low Chk1 expression insensitive to tamoxifen are unknown and no previous studies have to our knowledge identified Chk1 to be involved in tamoxifen responsiveness. However, loss of 11q24 has been associated with reduced tamoxifen sensitivity in breast cancer cell lines, implying presence of putative treatment predictive markers in this chromosomal region ³⁰³. Moreover, the previously mentioned gene signatures described as predictors of tamoxifen sensitivity often include genes associated with cell cycle control. The importance of Chk1 in the cell cycle checkpoints suggests a potential role of this protein in endocrine resistance caused by deregulation of the cell cycle machinery. A recent report suggests a link between ER signaling and the DNA damage response pathway, demonstrating an inhibitory effect of estrogen on ATR activity, via plasma membrane-localized ERa in a breast cancer cell line and mouse mammary epithelial cells ³⁰⁴. In addition, the protein association between Chk1 and claspin was blocked by estrogen, mediated by AKT phosphorylation of Chk1, preventing Chk1 signaling to the G2/M checkpoint. Interestingly, treatment with fulvestrant significantly counteracted the action of estrogen. These results imply a novel role for estrogen in chromosomal instability, through bypassing of the G2/M checkpoint induced by DNA damage, potentially relevant in breast cancer. Speculatively, functional DNA damage response machinery is required for tamoxifen to actively suppress proliferation. In tumors displaying an aberrant checkpoint pathway ER-inhibition by tamoxifen may have an insignificant effect in contrast to in tumors with functional repair machinery. It is however likely that several pathways are involved in tamoxifen resistance caused by defective Chk1 function. Moreover, the balance between signaling via nuclear and plasma membranelocalized ERs potentially affects the response to this adjuvant therapy. Since Chk1 expression was only shown to be associated with tamoxifen resistance in univariate analysis, our results should be interpreted with caution. Further comprehensive studies desirably including randomized breast cancer cohorts are required to support these results. Nevertheless, the involvement of distal 11q loss in breast cancer progression and treatment sensitivity is potentially as crucial as amplification of 11q13, and should be considered as a putative target for further characterization.

Hypoxia Induces a Partial EMT in vitro and the Key Regulator Snail Predicts Tamoxifen Sensitivity in Primary Breast Cancer (Paper II)

EMT has in recent years been recognized to play a crucial role in metastasizing of solid tumors, and a wealth of reports investigating the biological mechanisms behind this phenomenon has been published. Tumor hypoxia is a cellular process demonstrated to induce EMT, and hypoxic regulation of key E-cadherin repressors such as Snail and Slug has been the main focus of many studies, elucidating the pathological activation of EMT observed in cancer ^{254, 255}. This study in line with paper I and III aimed to elucidate the prognostic and treatment predictive significance of a specific biomarker, crucial for induction of EMT, as well as studying regulation of EMT in the context of hypoxia in a panel of human breast cancer cell lines. A limiting factor in this field of research is the discrepancy between studies reporting prognostic significance for EMT-regulators such as Snail. The use of unspecific antibodies and inconsistent evaluation of IHC are bias affecting the accuracy of this kind of studies.

For the analyses in paper II a substantial validation of the Snail antibody was undertaken, to achieve accurate and representative results both regarding IHC analyses and the *in* vitro studies. The induction of EMT by hypoxia was investigated, with main focus on the key E-cadherin transcriptional repressor Snail. Initially, the four breast cancer cell lines MCF-7, T-47D, MDA-MB-468 and MDA-MB-231 were exposed to hypoxia for increasing time points and the expression of E-cadherin, vimentin and Snail was monitored by Western blot and immunocytochemistry (ICC), as well as the migratory propensity. We found that Snail expression was elevated as breast cancer cell lines were exposed to hypoxia, with changes also observed for protein levels of the epithelial marker E-cadherin and the mesenchymal marker vimentin, in some of the cell lines. Surprisingly, hypoxia only enhanced the migratory propensity in one of four cell lines (MDA-MB-468), in which vimentin expression increased and E-cadherin expression was unaffected by hypoxia. This led us to the conclusion that EMT was only partially induced as a result of hypoxic exposure *in vitro*. Furthermore, hypoxia was shown to regulate the subcellular localization of the Snail protein, increasing the nuclear protein expression as a response to prolonged exposure. The nuclear localization was related to the time point when expression changes of E-cadherin and vimentin started to become evident in the cell lines. Next, we wanted to examine the role of Snail in cell migration, by overexpressing or silencing the protein prior to migration analysis, in the cell lines. Snail overexpression promoted migration of MCF-7, T-47D and MDA-MB-231 cells, whereas silencing resulted in reduced migratory capacity of MCF-7, MDA-MB-468 and MDA-MB-231 cells. Surprisingly, the migratory phenotype induced by Snail appeared to be independent of E-cadherin and vimentin expression.

In order to analyze the regulation of EMT induced by hypoxia in an *in vivo* model system, full sections of DCIS were stained with Snail antibody, and compared with stainings of HIF-1 α , E-cadherin and vimentin on corresponding sections. Snail

expression was found to be elevated in hypoxic areas of DCIS, but no changes were observed for E-cadherin and vimentin levels in these regions, further suggesting an incomplete induction of EMT in non-invasive breast cancer. Our next objective was to elucidate the putative role of Snail in breast cancer progression and tamoxifen sensitivity. The TMAs from the randomized cohort of breast cancer patients were stained with Snail antibody by IHC. Staining was evaluated and scored as negative or positive nuclei, based on observation that cytoplasmic staining was detected at a relatively constant level between samples. Interestingly, when analyzing Snail expression in relation to clinico-pathological parameters nuclear Snail expression was associated with an aggressive tumor phenotype defined as high grade and high proliferation rate, as well as with the hypoxia marker CAIX, supporting the association between EMT and hypoxia. Furthermore, nuclear Snail was inversely correlated to ER and PR expression, confirming previous findings. However, no significant independent prognostic information for Snail was retrieved from the analyses.

The observations that Snail directly represses ER gene transcription in breast cancer cells and that Snail has been reported to be negatively correlated to expression of ER in clinical materials ²⁴⁹, motivated us to elucidate the potential involvement of Snail in the tamoxifen response. Accordingly, we examined whether the effect of tamoxifen treatment was modified by Snail by including an interaction term to the multivariate Cox regression model. In a multivariate analysis the relationship between multiple parameters is analyzed to identify those with a dominant effect on outcome (independent predictors of outcome). The RFS was compared between treated and untreated patients according to Snail expression. Interestingly, Snail was found to significantly compromise the effect of tamoxifen, rendering patients with tumors exhibiting no nuclear Snail expression resistant to this adjuvant therapy. Consequently, Snail is a putative marker predicting response to tamoxifen, a novel finding that might be of clinical relevance for future therapeutical implications. Underlying mechanisms to reduced tamoxifen sensitivity in Snail-negative cancers are unexplored, but the relationship between Snail and the ER might play a role. Hypothetically, in a cancer cell completely lacking nuclear Snail, ER transcriptional activity would be higher, suggesting that the effect of tamoxifen might not sufficiently repress the action of estrogen. Additionally, Snail has been shown to suppress estrogen production, via inhibition of aromatase, resulting in reduced levels of circulating estrogen ³⁰⁵. Hence, lack of Snail expression would result in an excess of estrogen, potentially binding to ER and competing with tamoxifen. However, a plethora of factors and signaling pathways are involved in endocrine resistance and the context in which all these mediators act determines whether a cancer cell is sensitive or insensitive to drugs like tamoxifen. It is therefore relevant to screen for potential biomarkers involved in therapeutic resistance, and when these have been identified, continue to study the putative biological processes these markers might be involved in.

Expression of Stromal β -arrestin1 Predicts Clinical Outcome in Breast Cancer Patients (Paper III)

The role of the GPCR adaptor protein β -arrestin1 in cancer has to date not been extensively studied. However, β -arrestin1 has been implicated in cell motility *in vitro*, as well as in metastasis formation in an experimental model ^{191, 192}. Its corresponding gene *ARRB1* maps to chromosome 11q13 and hence might be involved in the genetic events frequently occurring at 11q. In paper III the potential involvement of β -arrestin1 in amplification/deletion of chromosomal regions at 11q, and the role as a putative biomarker associated with disease outcome and treatment response was investigated. Based on the findings that cyclin D1 and Pak1 (11q13), as well as Chk1 (11q24) in paper I, were linked to tamoxifen resistance we attempted to elucidate a potential association between β -arrestin1 and treatment response. Moreover, the importance of β -arrestin1 in a clinical setting had not previously been reported.

In order to examine the expression of β -arrestin1 in breast cancer two breast cancer patient cohorts were analyzed for β-arrestin1 staining; the randomized cohort previously described and the screening cohort including both pre- and postmenopausal patients. The initial analysis revealed an unexpected expression pattern of β -arrestin1 showing staining of both tumor cell cytoplasm and cells of the stromal compartment of the cancerous tissue. Accordingly, both tumor cell and stromal staining was evaluated, and staining intensity was scored as 0-3 for both compartments. Staining intensity of tumor cells versus stromal cells varied significantly between tumor samples, and tumors of high tumor cell intensity and low stromal intensity, as well as the opposite, was frequently observed. However, in the majority of tumors staining intensity of the two compartments was similar, with no variation or a variation of one score between tumor and stromal cells. Our first objective was to analyze the expression of β -arrestin1 in relation to general clinico-pathological variables. Interestingly, tumor cell and stromal β-arrestin1 expression was associated with separate sets of tumor characteristics in both cohorts. High β-arrestin1 expression in tumor cells was associated with ER and PR (cohort II) negativity and amplification of HER2, whereas high stromal expression was associated with higher grade (cohort I and II), larger tumors and higher proliferation rate (cohort II), as well as lymph node involvement and distant metastasis (cohort I). This discrepancy implies distinct functionalities of β -arrestin1 in tumor cells and the surrounding stromal cells in the context of clinical aggressiveness in breast cancer. Next, the impact of β -arrestin1 on RFS was analyzed in both cohorts. In line with the previous results showing a stronger association of stromal protein expression to clinicopathological parameters defining aggressive disease, RFS was affected by stromal β-arrestin1 but not by tumor cell expression. In patients presented with tumors of high stromal β -arrestin1 expression, time to recurrence was shorter compared to in patients with tumors of negative to moderate expression in cohort I. Surprisingly, in cohort II both high and negative stromal expression was associated with reduced RFS, suggesting that intermediate levels of β -arrestin1 is preferential to lack of or excessive

expression. In order to further examine the prognostic impact of β -arrestin1 we performed multivariate analyses for both cohorts. In cohort I β -arrestin1 revealed a prognostic significance, independent of other clinico-pathological parameters, thus representing a prognostic marker for breast cancer recurrence. Subcategorizing of patients displaying negative or high expression of β -arrestin1 versus low or moderately-expressing in cohort II, was also significantly predictive of prognosis. Patients with tumors of negative or high expression were subjected to a shorter RFS compared to patients exhibiting low or moderate expression. Furthermore, expression of β -arrestin1 did not modify the effect of tamoxifen. The novel discovery of stromal β -arrestin1 expression as a predictor for clinical outcome in breast cancer was however intriguing. Alterations in the stromal compartment of a tumor may as previously reported have an impact on malignant progression.

A potential mechanism explaining the association between high stromal β -arrestin1 expression and worse prognosis, may be the recently described role of β -arrestin1 in growth factor receptor signaling. Moreover, β -arrestin1 has been reported to have a dual role in IGF-1R signaling, both regulating IGF-1R degradation and mediating IGF-1 induced MAPK signaling, potentially supporting the observation that patients with tumors displaying either no expression or high levels of β -arrestin1 are subjected to a worse clinical outcome ^{306, 307}. However, further studies investigating the involvement of β -arrestin1 in growth factor receptor signaling and tumor progression are required to determine the putative prognostic significance of this protein in breast cancer.

Conclusions

In this thesis we have identified prognostic and treatment predictive markers in breast cancer, as well as gained insights into the hypoxic regulation of EMT, and the importance for the key regulator Snail in cell motility.

We could conclude that:

- Loss of Chk1 protein expression is associated with amplification of the *CCND1* gene and confers tamoxifen resistance in premenopausal breast cancer patients.
- Hypoxia induces an incomplete EMT *in vitro*, and expression of Snail impacts upon the migratory capacity of breast cancer cell lines.
- Absence of nuclear Snail expression renders breast cancer patients less sensitive to adjuvant tamoxifen.
- Stromal β-arrestin1 is a putative prognostic marker in pre- and postmenopausal patients, but is not linked to an altered tamoxifen sensitivity.

Populärvetenskaplig Sammanfattning

Många av oss har en närstående, släkting eller bekant som fått diagnosen cancer. Risken att som svensk drabbas av cancer innan 75 års ålder är nästan 30 procent. Hos kvinnor är den vanligaste formen bröstcancer, vilken drabbar ungefär en av tio svenska kvinnor. Trots att allt fler insjuknar i bröstcancer har dödligheten sjunkit de senaste decennierna, mycket tack vare införandet av mammografin och nya, mer effektiva behandlingsmetoder.

Det är viktigt att komma ihåg att bröstcancer är en komplex sjukdom med väldigt individuell sjukdomsbild från patient till patient. Bröstcancer behandlas med kirurgi, då antingen hela bröstet eller bara tumören med en del omgivande vävnad avlägsnas, beroende på tumörens omfattning. Ofta strålas patienten som ett komplement till kirurgin, för att döda eventuella resterande cancerceller. Flertalet patienter får även en tilläggsbehandling, så kallad adjuvant behandling, vilken utgörs av kemoterapi eller anti-hormonell terapi. Ungefär 70 procent av alla patienter med bröstcancer har tumörer som uppvisar östrogenreceptorn och dessa patienter utgör den grupp som behandlas med anti-östrogenterapi. Eftersom östrogen stimulerar tumörtillväxt kan man få tillväxten att avstanna genom att blockera antingen östrogenreceptorn eller produktionen av östrogen. Den allra vanligaste formen av anti-östrogenbehandling är preparatet tamoxifen, vilket interagerar med östrogenreceptorn och upphäver östrogenets effekt.

Trots att majoriteten av alla bröstcancerpatienter har tumörer där östrogenreceptorn finns i cancercellerna, har tamoxifen bara effekt hos ungefär hälften av patienterna. För de resterande patienterna är denna behandlingsform är helt verkningslös. Detta fenomen benämns som tamoxifenresistens och är ett omfattande problem inom bröstcancerbehandlingen. Det är därför viktigt att kunna identifiera patienter som inte kommer att bli hjälpta av behandling med tamoxifen, så att de inte behandlas i onödan. Ett antal biologiska mekanismer har beskrivits som potentiella förklaringar till resistens, men fortsatt forskning som inriktar sig på de bakomliggande orsakerna till uppkomsten av tamoxifenresistens är nödvändiga. Ytterligare ett viktigt mål med forskningen är att finna markörer, dvs. specifika proteiner som kan förutsäga ett försämrat behandlingssvar. Idag finns få kliniska markörer som används för att avgöra om patienten bör behandlas med tamoxifen eller inte. Markörer som används för att förutse hur en viss typ av behandling kommer att påverka sjukdomsutfallet kallas för prediktiva markörer, och för att förutspå anti-hormonellt behandlingssvar används förekomsten av östrogenreceptorn som en prediktiv markör. För att kunna hindra utvecklingen av en tumör, och för en bättre vägledning i val av rätt behandlingsmetod, är det av stor betydelse att finna prediktiva markörer såväl som markörer som kan förutse sjukdomsförloppet, vilka benämns som prognostiska markörer. Målsättningen med den här avhandlingen var att identifiera prediktiva såväl som prognostiska markörer i bröstcancer, utöver de som används inom sjukvården idag, för att eventuellt kunna bidra med viktig information gällande tamoxifenresistens och sjukdomsbild i framtiden.

Genom att studera bröstcancerpatienter som behandlats med tamoxifen och jämföra deras överlevnad med den för obehandlade patienter, har vi kunnat ta reda på vilka patienter som svarar på behandlingen och vilka som inte gör det. Det patientmaterial som vi gjort våra analyser i baserar sig på en tidigare utförd klinisk studie, och är unikt i det avseendet att hälften av patienterna behandlats med tamoxifen och den resterande hälften inte med någon adjuvant behandling alls. Idag behandlas de flesta kvinnor med bröstcancer med någon form av adjuvant behandling, varför den här typen av studie inte skulle kunna upprepas. Vi har studerat förekomsten av specifika proteiner hos dessa patienter och har kunnat dra slutsatsen att uttryck av dessa proteiner dels kommer att påverka hur det går för patienterna, dels om de är mottagliga för tamoxifenbehandling eller inte. Vi hade möjlighet att analysera tumörvävnad från dessa bröstcancerpatienter, med hjälp av en teknik där man konstruerar så kallade vävnadsarrayer. En vävnadsarray består av små biopsier (vävnadsprover) som ordnas i ett system som gör det möjligt att analysera biopsier från ungefär 100 patienter på ett och samma objektglas eller vävnadschip. Analyserna bygger på att de specifika proteiner som vi ville studera färgas in på dessa vävnadschips, med en teknik som kallas immunhistokemi. Följaktligen kan uttrycket av proteinet bedömas i mikroskop och vi kunde göra statistiska jämförelser mellan patienterna. Det går även att se hur uttrycket av proteinet är kopplat till för varje patient redan kända karakteristika som t.ex. tumörstorlek, grad av tumöraggressivitet och om patienten hade en östrogenreceptorpositiv tumör.

Ett viktigt kännetecken för cancerceller är att de har drabbats av genetiska förändringar. Genetiska förändringar kan uppstå som följd av en rad olika mekanismer, som t.ex. mutationer, förlust av delar av en kromosom, eller ett ökat antal kopior av en och samma gen. Ett ökat antal kopior av en viss gen uppstår genom en process som kallas genamplifiering, och involverar ofta ett antal olika gener som är belägna i närheten av varandra på en kromosom. Kromosom 11q13 är en region som ofta amplifieras i olika former av cancer och i detta kromosomavsnitt finns genen för proteinet cyklin D1. I bröstcancer har amplifiering av genen cyklin D1 visat sig leda till att tamoxifen kan stimulera istället för att hämma tumörtillväxt. I 15 procent av alla cancerfall med cyklin D1-amplifiering är också proteinmängden av cyklin D1 förhöjd i cancercellerna. Ett ökat uttryck av cyklin D1-proteinet har visat sig vara kopplat till ett sämre svar på tamoxifenbehandling, men inte till en motsatt (tumörfrämjande) effekt, som vid

genamplifiering. Flera olika gener är involverade i amplifieringen av kromosom 11q13 och i delarbete I undersökte vi några olika gener belägna på kromosom 11, för att eventuellt hitta ytterligare en gen som kan ha ett samband med en omvänd effekt av tamoxifen. Genen för Chk1 förloras ofta i samband med att cyklin D1-genen amplifieras, och genom att studera proteinuttrycket av Chk1 kunde vi visa att om en bröstcancerpatient förlorat uttrycket av detta protein, så kommer tamoxifen att ha en betydligt sämre effekt än om proteinet uttrycks på en normal nivå. Den motsatta effekt av tamoxifen som observerats hos patienter med cyklin D1-amplifiering var dock inte beroende av Chk1.

Syrebrist, även kallat hypoxi, påträffas ofta i bröstcancertumörer och har ett samband med graden av aggressivitet. En hypoxisk tumör är associerad med en sämre prognos än en väl syresatt tumör. Hypoxi har visat sig framkalla något som kallas epitelialmesenkymal transition (EMT), vilket kännetecknas av en mer aggressiv cancer, som också är mer benägen att metastasera (sprida sig). I delarbete II var målsättningen att undersöka om hypoxi leder till EMT i ett antal olika typer av odlade bröstcancerceller. Vi kunde dra två slutsatser; dels att hypoxi bara delvis leder till EMT i bröstcancerceller, dels att förekomsten av proteinet Snail, som reglerar EMT, påverkar hur rörlig en cancercell är. Dessutom identifierade vi Snail som en potentiell prediktiv markör för hur väl tamoxifen fungerar. Hos patienter som saknade Snailproteinet i tumörcellernas kärna hade tamoxifen betydligt sämre effekt än hos patienter vars tumörer uppvisade proteinuttryck av Snail. Avsaknad av Snail i tumörcellkärnan är alltså en indikation på tamoxifenresistens.

För att en tumör ska kunna växa är den beroende av sin omgivning, som kallas tumörstromat. En ömsesidig signalering sker ständigt mellan tumörcellerna och stromat, vilket leder till en fördelaktighet som innebär att tumörcellerna blir mer aggressiva. Länge ansågs det att genetiska förändringar enbart sker i cancerceller, men det har nyligen blivit vedertaget att genetiska förändringar kan förekomma även i stromat. Ett genetiskt förändrat tumörstroma har dessutom visat sig vara kopplat till en sämre prognos, med elakare tumörer som är mer benägna att metastasera som följd. I delarbete III undersökte vi hur uttrycket av proteinet β-arrestin1, som också har sin motsvarande gen på kromosom 11q13, är relaterat till tumöraggressivitet. Förutom det tidigare nämnda patientmaterialet använde vi oss av ytterligare ett material som enbart inkluderade behandlade bröstcancerpatienter. Våra resultat visade att ett högt uttryck av β-arrestin1 i celler från stromat, men inte i själva tumörcellerna, var tecken på en dålig prognos för patienten. Intressant nog visade det sig att fullständig avsaknad av β-arrestin1 också var kopplat till en sämre prognos i det första patientmaterialet, vilket tyder på att en intermediär (mellanliggande) nivå av detta protein är att föredra jämfört med ett för lågt eller ett för högt uttryck i de stromala cellerna. Följaktligen kan β-arrestin1 möjligen användas som en prognostisk markör i bröstcancer, men till skillnad från Chk1 och Snail var β-arrestin1 ingen prediktiv markör för effekten av tamoxifen.

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to those who have supported my work and would especially like to thank the following people:

Göran Landberg; my supervisor, for giving me the unique opportunity of pursuing my curiosity regarding breast cancer research, and for the encouragement in my projects and appreciation of my manuscript writing. My PhD studies have been an inspiring learning experience and a very enjoyable time.

Karin Jirström; for giving away a project that became one of my papers. I enjoyed our brief collaboration.

Elise; a.k.a. "the master of IHC", for her efficiency, skills and tremendous amounts of beautifully constructed arrays and stainings. I am very grateful for the enormous effort you put into my work, and convinced that without you it would never have been feasible. Christina; for your patience and for always being there when I needed help with ordering, bringing up cells or collecting breast samples. Kristin; for doing an excellent job in the paper work department.

Eva; my PhD companion and amazing friend, who made my time at CMP so much more than just work. No matter how tough the working situation got we always made each other smile. I'll never find a better "work pal" than you! Gry; your positive Norwegian attitude is invincible! Thanks for all the nice racklett dinners and for being a fantastic friend. Carro; for sharing your knowledge when it comes to SPSS and many other things, and for being a great office-mate and friend. Åsa; as my officemate you added some great flavor to my last couple of months with your "positive/ negative" attitude. I will miss our fun conversations. Anna; you have a fantastic sense of humor and a lot of attitude, keep fighting for your right! Maite; I admire your enthusiasm and success when it comes to research and the way you always makes me laugh. Sophie and Sofie; a.k.a. Slug and Snail, you really brought some new energy to the lab. Thanks for being such nice roommates in Manchester. Susan and Caroline; for the nice office atmosphere and for taking care of my plant. Tina and Pontus; for introducing me to western blot and to the original "patologengänget". Håkan, Anna-Karin, Kris and David; for the enthusiasm in arranging interesting journal clubs. Martin; for taking us down to the "underworld" to witness some real crafts.

All the remaining former and present colleagues at CMP and in the Manchester lab; for creating a prosperous working environment. You have all contributed to a great atmosphere for conducting research as well as for enjoying life outside the lab.

Karolina Holm and Åke Borg; my co-authors in Lund, for a nice collaboration.

Charlotte and Elin; for your commitment to my written work and for the Cluedo devotion. **Emma**; for arranging a nice place for me to stay whenever I feel like being home. **Marcus** (Belle) **and Sebastian**; for taking me on great nights out. You're all better friends than anyone could ever ask for!

Johanna and Rebeqa; thanks for making the graduate studies and the following years so much fun.

Kerstin and Lars-Eric; for your endless love, and support in any assignment I have ever undertaken. You are without a doubt the best parents out there! Jim; for supporting me and my friends in computer crisis, for always being there when me and my stuff need to be picked up or dropped off, and for making my childhood so exciting.

Nick; Who would have thought that our friendship would turn into a lab romance. Ní feidir liom fanacht go dtí go ndúisím leat gach uile maidin. Cuireann tú sonas i mo shaol.

This work was carried out at the Department of Laboratory Medicine, Center for Molecular Pathology, Malmö University Hospital, Lund University, Sweden.

Financial support was provided by; the Swedish Cancer Society, the Swedish Research Council, Malmö University Hospital Research and Cancer Funds, Lund University Research Funds, Gunnar, Arvid and Elisabeth Nilsson's Cancer Foundation, Swegene/ Wallenberg Consortium North, John and Augusta Persson's Research Funds and Breakthrough Breast Cancer Unit, Manchester.

References

- 1. Nowell, P.C. The clonal evolution of tumor cell populations. *Science* **194**, 23-8 (1976).
- 2. Hanahan, D. & Weinberg, R.A. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* **100**, 57-70 (2000).
- 3. Ponder, B.A. Cancer genetics. *Nature* **411**, 336-41 (2001).
- 4. Knudson, A.G., Jr. Mutation and cancer: statistical study of retinoblastoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **68**, 820-3 (1971).
- 5. Baylin, S.B. & Herman, J.G. DNA hypermethylation in tumorigenesis: epigenetics joins genetics. *Trends Genet* **16**, 168-74 (2000).
- 6. Gatenby, R.A. & Gillies, R.J. A microenvironmental model of carcinogenesis. *Nat Rev Cancer* **8**, 56-61 (2008).
- 7. Reya, T., Morrison, S.J., Clarke, M.F. & Weissman, I.L. Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. *Nature* **414**, 105-11 (2001).
- 8. Pardal, R., Clarke, M.F. & Morrison, S.J. Applying the principles of stem-cell biology to cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* **3**, 895-902 (2003).
- 9. Bapat, S.A. Evolution of cancer stem cells. Semin Cancer Biol 17, 204-13 (2007).
- 10. Campbell, L.L. & Polyak, K. Breast tumor heterogeneity: cancer stem cells or clonal evolution? *Cell Cycle* **6**, 2332-8 (2007).
- 11. Visvader, J.E. & Lindeman, G.J. Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions. *Nat Rev Cancer* **8**, 755-68 (2008).
- 12. Wicha, M.S., Liu, S. & Dontu, G. Cancer stem cells: an old idea--a paradigm shift. *Cancer Res* 66, 1883-90; discussion 1895-6 (2006).
- 13. Merlo, L.M., Pepper, J.W., Reid, B.J. & Maley, C.C. Cancer as an evolutionary and ecological process. *Nat Rev Cancer* **6**, 924-35 (2006).
- 14. Crespi, B. & Summers, K. Evolutionary biology of cancer. *Trends Ecol Evol* 20, 545-52 (2005).
- 15. Key, T.J. & Pike, M.C. The role of oestrogens and progestagens in the epidemiology and prevention of breast cancer. *Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol* **24**, 29-43 (1988).
- 16. Hennighausen, L. & Robinson, G.W. Signaling pathways in mammary gland development. *Dev Cell* **1**, 467-75 (2001).
- 17. Russo, I.H. & Russo, J. Role of hormones in mammary cancer initiation and progression. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **3**, 49-61 (1998).
- Taylor-Papadimitriou, J. et al. Keratin expression in human mammary epithelial cells cultured from normal and malignant tissue: relation to in vivo phenotypes and influence of medium. *J Cell Sci* 94 (Pt 3), 403-13 (1989).
- 19. Dairkee, S. & Heid, H.W. Cytokeratin profile of immunomagnetically separated epithelial subsets of the human mammary gland. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim* **29A**, 427-32 (1993).
- 20. Clarke, R.B., Howell, A., Potten, C.S. & Anderson, E. Dissociation between steroid receptor expression and cell proliferation in the human breast. *Cancer Res* **57**, 4987-91 (1997).
- 21. Russo, J., Ao, X., Grill, C. & Russo, I.H. Pattern of distribution of cells positive for estrogen receptor alpha and progesterone receptor in relation to proliferating cells in the mammary gland. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* **53**, 217-27 (1999).
- 22. Weihua, Z. et al. Update on estrogen signaling. *FEBS Lett* **546**, 17-24 (2003).
- 23. Pechoux, C., Gudjonsson, T., Ronnov-Jessen, L., Bissell, M.J. & Petersen, O.W. Human mammary luminal epithelial cells contain progenitors to myoepithelial cells. *Dev Biol* **206**, 88-99 (1999).
- 24. Deome, K.B., Faulkin, L.J., Jr., Bern, H.A. & Blair, P.B. Development of mammary tumors from hyperplastic alveolar nodules transplanted into gland-free mammary fat pads of female C3H mice. *Cancer Res* **19**, 515-20 (1959).
- 25. Kamangar, F., Dores, G.M. & Anderson, W.F. Patterns of cancer incidence, mortality, and prevalence across five continents: defining priorities to reduce cancer disparities in different geographic regions of the world. *J Clin Oncol* 24, 2137-50 (2006).
- 26. Pike, M.C., Krailo, M.D., Henderson, B.E., Casagrande, J.T. & Hoel, D.G. 'Hormonal' risk factors, 'breast tissue age' and the age-incidence of breast cancer. *Nature* **303**, 767-70 (1983).

- 27. Breast cancer and hormonal contraceptives: collaborative reanalysis of individual data on 53 297 women with breast cancer and 100 239 women without breast cancer from 54 epidemiological studies. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. *Lancet* **347**, 1713-27 (1996).
- 28. Beral, V. Breast cancer and hormone-replacement therapy in the Million Women Study. *Lancet* **362**, 419-27 (2003).
- 29. Heck, K.E. & Pamuk, E.R. Explaining the relation between education and postmenopausal breast cancer. *Am J Epidemiol* **145**, 366-72 (1997).
- 30. Coyle, Y.M. Lifestyle, genes, and cancer. *Methods Mol Biol* **472**, 25-56 (2009).
- 31. Shapiro, S. et al. Breast cancer screening programmes in 22 countries: current policies, administration and guidelines. International Breast Cancer Screening Network (IBSN) and the European Network of Pilot Projects for Breast Cancer Screening. *Int J Epidemiol* 27, 735-42 (1998).
- 32. Villadsen, R. In search of a stem cell hierarchy in the human breast and its relevance to breast cancer evolution. *Apmis* **113**, 903-21 (2005).
- 33. Sainsbury, J.R., Anderson, T.J. & Morgan, D.A. ABC of breast diseases: breast cancer. *Bmj* **321**, 745-50 (2000).
- 34. Allred, D.C., Mohsin, S.K. & Fuqua, S.A. Histological and biological evolution of human premalignant breast disease. *Endocr Relat Cancer* **8**, 47-61 (2001).
- 35. Burstein, H.J., Polyak, K., Wong, J.S., Lester, S.C. & Kaelin, C.M. Ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast. *N Engl J Med* **350**, 1430-41 (2004).
- 36. Ernster, V.L. et al. Detection of ductal carcinoma in situ in women undergoing screening mammography. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **94**, 1546-54 (2002).
- 37. Darling, M.L. et al. Atypical ductal hyperplasia and ductal carcinoma in situ as revealed by large-core needle breast biopsy: results of surgical excision. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* **175**, 1341-6 (2000).
- 38. Bonnett, M. et al. Histologic and radiographic analysis of ductal carcinoma in situ diagnosed using stereotactic incisional core breast biopsy. *Mod Pathol* **15**, 95-101 (2002).
- 39. Adriance, M.C., Inman, J.L., Petersen, O.W. & Bissell, M.J. Myoepithelial cells: good fences make good neighbors. *Breast Cancer Res* 7, 190-7 (2005).
- 40. Gudjonsson, T., Adriance, M.C., Sternlicht, M.D., Petersen, O.W. & Bissell, M.J. Myoepithelial cells: their origin and function in breast morphogenesis and neoplasia. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **10**, 261-72 (2005).
- 41. Perou, C.M. et al. Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature* **406**, 747-52 (2000).
- 42. Hu, Z. et al. The molecular portraits of breast tumors are conserved across microarray platforms. *BMC Genomics* 7, 96 (2006).
- 43. Sorlie, T. et al. Distinct molecular mechanisms underlying clinically relevant subtypes of breast cancer: gene expression analyses across three different platforms. *BMC Genomics* **7**, 127 (2006).
- 44. Yu, K., Lee, C.H., Tan, P.H. & Tan, P. Conservation of breast cancer molecular subtypes and transcriptional patterns of tumor progression across distinct ethnic populations. *Clin Cancer Res* **10**, 5508-17 (2004).
- 45. Sorlie, T. et al. Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **98**, 10869-74 (2001).
- 46. Al-Hajj, M., Wicha, M.S., Benito-Hernandez, A., Morrison, S.J. & Clarke, M.F. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**, 3983-8 (2003).
- 47. Balic, M. et al. Most early disseminated cancer cells detected in bone marrow of breast cancer patients have a putative breast cancer stem cell phenotype. *Clin Cancer Res* **12**, 5615-21 (2006).
- 48. Abraham, B.K. et al. Prevalence of CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low} cells in breast cancer may not be associated with clinical outcome but may favor distant metastasis. *Clin Cancer Res* **11**, 1154-9 (2005).
- 49. Chen, Y. & Olopade, O.I. MYC in breast tumor progression. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* **8**, 1689-98 (2008).
- 50. Ormandy, C.J., Musgrove, E.A., Hui, R., Daly, R.J. & Sutherland, R.L. Cyclin D1, EMS1 and 11q13 amplification in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* **78**, 323-35 (2003).
- 51. Turnbull, C. & Rahman, N. Genetic predisposition to breast cancer: past, present, and future. *Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet* 9, 321-45 (2008).
- 52. Li, C.I., Uribe, D.J. & Daling, J.R. Clinical characteristics of different histologic types of breast cancer. *Br J Cancer* **93**, 1046-52 (2005).

- 53. Elston, C.W. & Ellis, I.O. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. *Histopathology* **19**, 403-10 (1991).
- 54. Pusztai, L. Current status of prognostic profiling in breast cancer. *Oncologist* 13, 350-60 (2008).
- 55. Sato, K., Shigenaga, R., Ueda, S., Shigekawa, T. & Krag, D.N. Sentinel lymph node biopsy for breast cancer. *J Surg Oncol* **96**, 322-9 (2007).
- 56. Overgaard, M. et al. Postoperative radiotherapy in high-risk postmenopausal breast-cancer patients given adjuvant tamoxifen: Danish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group DBCG 82c randomised trial. *Lancet* **353**, 1641-8 (1999).
- 57. Goldhirsch, A. et al. Progress and promise: highlights of the international expert consensus on the primary therapy of early breast cancer 2007. *Ann Oncol* **18**, 1133-44 (2007).
- 58. Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. *Lancet* **365**, 1687-717 (2005).
- 59. Palmeri, L., Vaglica, M. & Palmeri, S. Weekly docetaxel in the treatment of metastatic breast cancer. *Ther Clin Risk Manag* **4**, 1047-59 (2008).
- 60. Hurley, L.H. DNA and its associated processes as targets for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2, 188-200 (2002).
- 61. Ali, S. & Coombes, R.C. Endocrine-responsive breast cancer and strategies for combating resistance. *Nat Rev Cancer* **2**, 101-12 (2002).
- 62. Ravdin, P.M. et al. Prognostic significance of progesterone receptor levels in estrogen receptor-positive patients with metastatic breast cancer treated with tamoxifen: results of a prospective Southwest Oncology Group study. *J Clin Oncol* **10**, 1284-91 (1992).
- 63. Stendahl, M. et al. High progesterone receptor expression correlates to the effect of adjuvant tamoxifen in premenopausal breast cancer patients. *Clin Cancer Res* **12**, 4614-8 (2006).
- 64. Bardou, V.J., Arpino, G., Elledge, R.M., Osborne, C.K. & Clark, G.M. Progesterone receptor status significantly improves outcome prediction over estrogen receptor status alone for adjuvant endocrine therapy in two large breast cancer databases. *J Clin Oncol* **21**, 1973-9 (2003).
- 65. Osborne, C.K. Tamoxifen in the treatment of breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* **339**, 1609-18 (1998).
- 66. Cuzick, J. et al. Overview of the main outcomes in breast-cancer prevention trials. *Lancet* **361**, 296-300 (2003).
- 67. Lonard, D.M. & Smith, C.L. Molecular perspectives on selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs): progress in understanding their tissue-specific agonist and antagonist actions. *Steroids* **67**, 15-24 (2002).
- 68. Love, R.R. et al. Effects of tamoxifen on bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* **326**, 852-6 (1992).
- 69. Love, R.R. et al. Effects of tamoxifen on cardiovascular risk factors in postmenopausal women. *Ann Intern Med* **115**, 860-4 (1991).
- 70. Howell, A., Downey, S. & Anderson, E. New endocrine therapies for breast cancer. *Eur J Cancer* **32A**, 576-88 (1996).
- 71. Cummings, S.R. et al. The effect of raloxifene on risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women: results from the MORE randomized trial. Multiple Outcomes of Raloxifene Evaluation. *Jama* **281**, 2189-97 (1999).
- 72. Robertson, J.F. et al. Comparison of the short-term biological effects of 7alpha-[9-(4,4,5,5,5-pentafluoropentylsulfinyl)-nonyl]estra-1,3,5, (10)-triene-3,17beta-diol (Faslodex) versus tamoxifen in postmenopausal women with primary breast cancer. *Cancer Res* **61**, 6739-46 (2001).
- 73. Howell, A. et al. Pharmacokinetics, pharmacological and anti-tumour effects of the specific antioestrogen ICI 182780 in women with advanced breast cancer. *Br J Cancer* **74**, 300-8 (1996).
- 74. Hong, S., Didwania, A., Olopade, O. & Ganschow, P. The expanding use of third-generation aromatase inhibitors: what the general internist needs to know. *J Gen Intern Med* **24 Suppl 2**, S383-8 (2009).
- 75. Baum, M. et al. Anastrozole alone or in combination with tamoxifen versus tamoxifen alone for adjuvant treatment of postmenopausal women with early breast cancer: first results of the ATAC randomised trial. *Lancet* **359**, 2131-9 (2002).
- 76. Howell, A. et al. Results of the ATAC (Arimidex, Tamoxifen, Alone or in Combination) trial after completion of 5 years' adjuvant treatment for breast cancer. *Lancet* **365**, 60-2 (2005).

- 77. Rubin, I. & Yarden, Y. The basic biology of HER2. Ann Oncol 12 Suppl 1, S3-8 (2001).
- 78. Davoli, A., Hocevar, B.A. & Brown, T.L. Progression and treatment of HER2-positive breast cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* **65**, 611-23.
- 79. Matthews, J. & Gustafsson, J.A. Estrogen signaling: a subtle balance between ER alpha and ER beta. *Mol Interv* **3**, 281-92 (2003).
- Simpson, E.R. & Dowsett, M. Aromatase and its inhibitors: significance for breast cancer therapy. *Recent Prog Horm Res* 57, 317-38 (2002).
- 81. Purohit, A. & Reed, M.J. Regulation of estrogen synthesis in postmenopausal women. *Steroids* **67**, 979-83 (2002).
- 82. Klinge, C.M. Estrogen receptor interaction with estrogen response elements. *Nucleic Acids Res* 29, 2905-19 (2001).
- Frasor, J. et al. Profiling of estrogen up- and down-regulated gene expression in human breast cancer cells: insights into gene networks and pathways underlying estrogenic control of proliferation and cell phenotype. *Endocrinology* 144, 4562-74 (2003).
- 84. Paech, K. et al. Differential ligand activation of estrogen receptors ERalpha and ERbeta at AP1 sites. *Science* **277**, 1508-10 (1997).
- 85. Pietras, R.J. & Szego, C.M. Estrogen receptors in uterine plasma membrane. *J Steroid Biochem* 11, 1471-83 (1979).
- Levin, E.R. Cell localization, physiology, and nongenomic actions of estrogen receptors. *J Appl Physiol* 91, 1860-7 (2001).
- 87. Levin, E.R. & Pietras, R.J. Estrogen receptors outside the nucleus in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* **108**, 351-61 (2008).
- 88. Clarke, R., Leonessa, F., Welch, J.N. & Skaar, T.C. Cellular and molecular pharmacology of antiestrogen action and resistance. *Pharmacol Rev* **53**, 25-71 (2001).
- 89. Zwart, W. et al. Resistance to antiestrogen arzoxifene is mediated by overexpression of cyclin D1. *Mol Endocrinol* **23**, 1335-45 (2009).
- Le Goff, P., Montano, M.M., Schodin, D.J. & Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Phosphorylation of the human estrogen receptor. Identification of hormone-regulated sites and examination of their influence on transcriptional activity. *J Biol Chem* 269, 4458-66 (1994).
- 91. Kato, S. et al. Activation of the estrogen receptor through phosphorylation by mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Science* **270**, 1491-4 (1995).
- 92. Pietras, R.J. et al. HER-2 tyrosine kinase pathway targets estrogen receptor and promotes hormoneindependent growth in human breast cancer cells. *Oncogene* **10**, 2435-46 (1995).
- 93. Holm, C. et al. Association between Pak1 expression and subcellular localization and tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer patients. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **98**, 671-80 (2006).
- 94. Robertson, J.F. Oestrogen receptor: a stable phenotype in breast cancer. Br J Cancer 73, 5-12 (1996).
- 95. Buzdar, A.U., Jonat, W., Howell, A. & Plourde, P.V. ARIMIDEX: a potent and selective aromatase inhibitor for the treatment of advanced breast cancer. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* **61**, 145-9 (1997).
- 96. Howell, A. et al. Fulvestrant, formerly ICI 182,780, is as effective as anastrozole in postmenopausal women with advanced breast cancer progressing after prior endocrine treatment. *J Clin Oncol* **20**, 3396-403 (2002).
- 97. Osborne, C.K. et al. Double-blind, randomized trial comparing the efficacy and tolerability of fulvestrant versus anastrozole in postmenopausal women with advanced breast cancer progressing on prior endocrine therapy: results of a North American trial. *J Clin Oncol* **20**, 3386-95 (2002).
- 98. Tzukerman, M.T. et al. Human estrogen receptor transactivational capacity is determined by both cellular and promoter context and mediated by two functionally distinct intramolecular regions. *Mol Endocrinol* **8**, 21-30 (1994).
- 99. Smith, C.L., Nawaz, Z. & O'Malley, B.W. Coactivator and corepressor regulation of the agonist/antagonist activity of the mixed antiestrogen, 4-hydroxytamoxifen. *Mol Endocrinol* **11**, 657-66 (1997).
- 100. Lavinsky, R.M. et al. Diverse signaling pathways modulate nuclear receptor recruitment of N-CoR and SMRT complexes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **95**, 2920-5 (1998).
- 101. Dihge, L. et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and the estrogen receptor modulator amplified in breast cancer (AIB1) for predicting clinical outcome after adjuvant tamoxifen in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* **109**, 255-62 (2008).

- 102. Girault, I. et al. Expression analysis of estrogen receptor alpha coregulators in breast carcinoma: evidence that NCOR1 expression is predictive of the response to tamoxifen. *Clin Cancer Res* **9**, 1259-66 (2003).
- 103. Stendahl, M. et al. Cyclin D1 overexpression is a negative predictive factor for tamoxifen response in postmenopausal breast cancer patients. *Br J Cancer* **90**, 1942-8 (2004).
- 104. Jirstrom, K. et al. Adverse effect of adjuvant tamoxifen in premenopausal breast cancer with cyclin D1 gene amplification. *Cancer Res* **65**, 8009-16 (2005).
- 105. Zwijsen, R.M., Buckle, R.S., Hijmans, E.M., Loomans, C.J. & Bernards, R. Ligand-independent recruitment of steroid receptor coactivators to estrogen receptor by cyclin D1. *Genes Dev* **12**, 3488-98 (1998).
- 106. Zwijsen, R.M. et al. CDK-independent activation of estrogen receptor by cyclin D1. *Cell* **88**, 405-15 (1997).
- 107. Ishii, Y., Waxman, S. & Germain, D. Tamoxifen stimulates the growth of cyclin D1-overexpressing breast cancer cells by promoting the activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3. *Cancer Res* **68**, 852-60 (2008).
- 108. Campbell, R.A. et al. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/AKT-mediated activation of estrogen receptor alpha: a new model for anti-estrogen resistance. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 9817-24 (2001).
- 109. Benz, C.C. et al. Estrogen-dependent, tamoxifen-resistant tumorigenic growth of MCF-7 cells transfected with HER2/neu. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 24, 85-95 (1992).
- 110. Kurokawa, H. et al. Inhibition of HER2/neu (erbB-2) and mitogen-activated protein kinases enhances tamoxifen action against HER2-overexpressing, tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res* **60**, 5887-94 (2000).
- 111. Arpino, G., Wiechmann, L., Osborne, C.K. & Schiff, R. Crosstalk between the estrogen receptor and the HER tyrosine kinase receptor family: molecular mechanism and clinical implications for endocrine therapy resistance. *Endocr Rev* 29, 217-33 (2008).
- 112. Ring, A. & Dowsett, M. Mechanisms of tamoxifen resistance. *Endocr Relat Cancer* 11, 643-58 (2004).
- 113. Osborne, C.K., Schiff, R., Arpino, G., Lee, A.S. & Hilsenbeck, V.G. Endocrine responsiveness: understanding how progesterone receptor can be used to select endocrine therapy. *Breast* 14, 458-65 (2005).
- 114. Michalides, R. et al. Tamoxifen resistance by a conformational arrest of the estrogen receptor alpha after PKA activation in breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* **5**, 597-605 (2004).
- 115. Lundgren, K., Holm, K., Nordenskjold, B., Borg, A. & Landberg, G. Gene products of chromosome 11q and their association with CCND1 gene amplification and tamoxifen resistance in premenopausal breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res* **10**, R81 (2008).
- 116. Zwart, W. et al. PKA-induced resistance to tamoxifen is associated with an altered orientation of ERalpha towards co-activator SRC-1. *Embo J* **26**, 3534-44 (2007).
- 117. Holm, C. et al. Phosphorylation of the oestrogen receptor alpha at serine 305 and prediction of tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer. *J Pathol* **217**, 372-9 (2009).
- 118. Borgquist, S. et al. Oestrogen receptors alpha and beta show different associations to clinicopathological parameters and their co-expression might predict a better response to endocrine treatment in breast cancer. *J Clin Pathol* **61**, 197-203 (2008).
- 119. Iwase, H. et al. Clinical significance of the expression of estrogen receptors alpha and beta for endocrine therapy of breast cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* **52** Suppl 1, S34-8 (2003).
- 120. Kushner, P.J. et al. Estrogen receptor pathways to AP-1. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 74, 311-7 (2000).
- 121. Shi, L. et al. Expression of ER-{alpha}36, a novel variant of estrogen receptor {alpha}, and resistance to tamoxifen treatment in breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol* **27**, 3423-9 (2009).
- 122. Fuqua, S.A. et al. A hypersensitive estrogen receptor-alpha mutation in premalignant breast lesions. *Cancer Res* **60**, 4026-9 (2000).
- 123. Musgrove, E.A. & Sutherland, R.L. Biological determinants of endocrine resistance in breast cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 9, 631-43 (2009).
- 124. Schmitt, F. HER2+ breast cancer: how to evaluate? Adv Ther 26 Suppl 1, S1-8 (2009).
- 125. Rodriguez-Pinilla, S.M. et al. MYC amplification in breast cancer: a chromogenic in situ hybridisation study. *J Clin Pathol* **60**, 1017-23 (2007).
- 126. Al-Kuraya, K. et al. HER2, TOP2A, CCND1, EGFR and C-MYC oncogene amplification in colorectal cancer. *J Clin Pathol* **60**, 768-72 (2007).

- 127. Ingvarsson, S. Molecular genetics of breast cancer progression. Semin Cancer Biol 9, 277-88 (1999).
- 128. Berns, E.M. et al. Oncogene amplification and prognosis in breast cancer: relationship with systemic treatment. *Gene* **159**, 11-8 (1995).
- 129. Borg, A. et al. Association of INT2/HST1 coamplification in primary breast cancer with hormonedependent phenotype and poor prognosis. *Br J Cancer* **63**, 136-42 (1991).
- 130. Schuuring, E. et al. Amplification of genes within the chromosome 11q13 region is indicative of poor prognosis in patients with operable breast cancer. *Cancer Res* **52**, 5229-34 (1992).
- 131. Bieche, I., Olivi, M., Nogues, C., Vidaud, M. & Lidereau, R. Prognostic value of CCND1 gene status in sporadic breast tumours, as determined by real-time quantitative PCR assays. *Br J Cancer* **86**, 580-6 (2002).
- 132. Karlseder, J. et al. Patterns of DNA amplification at band q13 of chromosome 11 in human breast cancer. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* 9, 42-8 (1994).
- 133. Bostner, J. et al. Amplification of CCND1 and PAK1 as predictors of recurrence and tamoxifen resistance in postmenopausal breast cancer. *Oncogene* **26**, 6997-7005 (2007).
- Gibcus, J.H. et al. Amplicon mapping and expression profiling identify the Fas-associated death domain gene as a new driver in the 11q13.3 amplicon in laryngeal/pharyngeal cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 13, 6257-66 (2007).
- 135. Sherr, C.J. & Roberts, J.M. CDK inhibitors: positive and negative regulators of G1-phase progression. *Genes Dev* **13**, 1501-12 (1999).
- 136. Fantl, V., Stamp, G., Andrews, A., Rosewell, I. & Dickson, C. Mice lacking cyclin D1 are small and show defects in eye and mammary gland development. *Genes Dev* **9**, 2364-72 (1995).
- 137. Sicinski, P. et al. Cyclin D1 provides a link between development and oncogenesis in the retina and breast. *Cell* 82, 621-30 (1995).
- Wang, T.C. et al. Mammary hyperplasia and carcinoma in MMTV-cyclin D1 transgenic mice. *Nature* 369, 669-71 (1994).
- 139. Bartkova, J. et al. Cyclin D1 protein expression and function in human breast cancer. *Int J Cancer* **57**, 353-61 (1994).
- 140. Gillett, C. et al. Cyclin D1 and prognosis in human breast cancer. Int J Cancer 69, 92-9 (1996).
- 141. McIntosh, G.G. et al. Determination of the prognostic value of cyclin D1 overexpression in breast cancer. *Oncogene* 11, 885-91 (1995).
- 142. Kenny, F.S. et al. Overexpression of cyclin D1 messenger RNA predicts for poor prognosis in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* **5**, 2069-76 (1999).
- 143. Michalides, R. et al. A clinicopathological study on overexpression of cyclin D1 and of p53 in a series of 248 patients with operable breast cancer. *Br J Cancer* **73**, 728-34 (1996).
- 144. Hwang, T.S., Han, H.S., Hong, Y.C., Lee, H.J. & Paik, N.S. Prognostic value of combined analysis of cyclin D1 and estrogen receptor status in breast cancer patients. *Pathol Int* **53**, 74-80 (2003).
- 145. Buckley, M.F. et al. Expression and amplification of cyclin genes in human breast cancer. *Oncogene* **8**, 2127-33 (1993).
- 146. Gillett, C. et al. Amplification and overexpression of cyclin D1 in breast cancer detected by immunohistochemical staining. *Cancer Res* **54**, 1812-7 (1994).
- 147. Dickson, C. et al. Amplification of chromosome band 11q13 and a role for cyclin D1 in human breast cancer. *Cancer Lett* **90**, 43-50 (1995).
- 148. Naidu, R., Wahab, N.A., Yadav, M.M. & Kutty, M.K. Expression and amplification of cyclin D1 in primary breast carcinomas: relationship with histopathological types and clinico-pathological parameters. *Oncol Rep* **9**, 409-16 (2002).
- 149. Arnold, A. & Papanikolaou, A. Cyclin D1 in breast cancer pathogenesis. *J Clin Oncol* 23, 4215-24 (2005).
- 150. Schuuring, E., Verhoeven, E., Mooi, W.J. & Michalides, R.J. Identification and cloning of two overexpressed genes, U21B31/PRAD1 and EMS1, within the amplified chromosome 11q13 region in human carcinomas. *Oncogene* **7**, 355-61 (1992).
- 151. Weed, S.A. & Parsons, J.T. Cortactin: coupling membrane dynamics to cortical actin assembly. *Oncogene* **20**, 6418-34 (2001).
- 152. van Rossum, A.G., Moolenaar, W.H. & Schuuring, E. Cortactin affects cell migration by regulating intercellular adhesion and cell spreading. *Exp Cell Res* **312**, 1658-70 (2006).

- 153. Wu, H. & Parsons, J.T. Cortactin, an 80/85-kilodalton pp60src substrate, is a filamentous actinbinding protein enriched in the cell cortex. *J Cell Biol* **120**, 1417-26 (1993).
- 154. Patel, A.S., Schechter, G.L., Wasilenko, W.J. & Somers, K.D. Overexpression of EMS1/cortactin in NIH3T3 fibroblasts causes increased cell motility and invasion in vitro. *Oncogene* **16**, 3227-32 (1998).
- 155. Li, Y. et al. Cortactin potentiates bone metastasis of breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res* **61**, 6906-11 (2001).
- 156. Hui, R. et al. EMS1 amplification can occur independently of CCND1 or INT-2 amplification at 11q13 and may identify different phenotypes in primary breast cancer. *Oncogene* **15**, 1617-23 (1997).
- 157. Siegel, R.M. et al. Death-effector filaments: novel cytoplasmic structures that recruit caspases and trigger apoptosis. *J Cell Biol* **141**, 1243-53 (1998).
- 158. Kischkel, F.C. et al. Cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1 (Fas/CD95)-associated proteins form a deathinducing signaling complex (DISC) with the receptor. *Embo J* 14, 5579-88 (1995).
- 159. Tibbetts, M.D., Zheng, L. & Lenardo, M.J. The death effector domain protein family: regulators of cellular homeostasis. *Nat Immunol* **4**, 404-9 (2003).
- Newton, K., Harris, A.W., Bath, M.L., Smith, K.G. & Strasser, A. A dominant interfering mutant of FADD/MORT1 enhances deletion of autoreactive thymocytes and inhibits proliferation of mature T lymphocytes. *Embo J* 17, 706-18 (1998).
- 161. Zhang, J., Kabra, N.H., Cado, D., Kang, C. & Winoto, A. FADD-deficient T cells exhibit a disaccord in regulation of the cell cycle machinery. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 29815-8 (2001).
- 162. Chen, G. et al. Phosphorylated FADD induces NF-kappaB, perturbs cell cycle, and is associated with poor outcome in lung adenocarcinomas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 12507-12 (2005).
- 163. Shuster, M.I. et al. A consistent pattern of RIN1 rearrangements in oral squamous cell carcinoma cell lines supports a breakage-fusion-bridge cycle model for 11q13 amplification. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* 28, 153-63 (2000).
- 164. Parikh, R.A. et al. Loss of distal 11q is associated with DNA repair deficiency and reduced sensitivity to ionizing radiation in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* **46**, 761-75 (2007).
- 165. Arai, Y., Hosoda, F., Nakayama, K. & Ohki, M. A yeast artificial chromosome contig and Notl restriction map that spans the tumor suppressor gene(s) locus, 11q22.2-q23.3. *Genomics* **35**, 196-206 (1996).
- 166. Tomlinson, I.P. et al. Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 11 q in breast cancer. *J Clin Pathol* **48**, 424-8 (1995).
- 167. Launonen, V. et al. Chromosome 11q22.3-q25 LOH in ovarian cancer: association with a more aggressive disease course and involved subregions. *Gynecol Oncol* **71**, 299-304 (1998).
- 168. Winqvist, R. et al. Loss of heterozygosity for chromosome 11 in primary human breast tumors is associated with poor survival after metastasis. *Cancer Res* **55**, 2660-4 (1995).
- 169. Evans, M.F., Koreth, J., Bakkenist, C.J., Herrington, C.S. & McGee, J.O. Allelic deletion at 11q23.3q25 is an early event in cervical neoplasia. *Oncogene* **16**, 2557-64 (1998).
- 170. Jin, Y. et al. FISH characterization of head and neck carcinomas reveals that amplification of band 11q13 is associated with deletion of distal 11q. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* **22**, 312-20 (1998).
- 171. Dahiya, R. et al. High frequency of genetic instability of microsatellites in human prostatic adenocarcinoma. *Int J Cancer* **72**, 762-7 (1997).
- 172. Flaggs, G. et al. Atm-dependent interactions of a mammalian chk1 homolog with meiotic chromosomes. *Curr Biol* **7**, 977-86 (1997).
- 173. Sanchez, Y. et al. Conservation of the Chk1 checkpoint pathway in mammals: linkage of DNA damage to Cdk regulation through Cdc25. *Science* **277**, 1497-501 (1997).
- 174. Kastan, M.B. & Bartek, J. Cell-cycle checkpoints and cancer. *Nature* **432**, 316-23 (2004).
- 175. Liu, Q. et al. Chk1 is an essential kinase that is regulated by Atr and required for the G(2)/M DNA damage checkpoint. *Genes Dev* 14, 1448-59 (2000).
- 176. Takai, H. et al. Aberrant cell cycle checkpoint function and early embryonic death in Chk1(-/-) mice. *Genes Dev* **14**, 1439-47 (2000).
- 177. Verlinden, L. et al. The E2F-regulated gene Chk1 is highly expressed in triple-negative estrogen receptor /progesterone receptor /HER-2 breast carcinomas. *Cancer Res* **67**, 6574-81 (2007).
- Xiao, Z., Xue, J., Sowin, T.J. & Zhang, H. Differential roles of checkpoint kinase 1, checkpoint kinase
 and mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase 2 in mediating DNA damage-induced cell cycle arrest: implications for cancer therapy. *Mol Cancer Ther* 5, 1935-43 (2006).

- 179. Xiao, Z. et al. Novel indication for cancer therapy: Chk1 inhibition sensitizes tumor cells to antimitotics. *Int J Cancer* **115**, 528-38 (2005).
- 180. Bucher, N. & Britten, C.D. G2 checkpoint abrogation and checkpoint kinase-1 targeting in the treatment of cancer. *Br J Cancer* **98**, 523-8 (2008).
- 181. Calabrese, G. et al. Assignment of the beta-arrestin 1 gene (ARRB1) to human chromosome 11q13. *Genomics* 24, 169-71 (1994).
- 182. Lefkowitz, R.J. & Whalen, E.J. beta-arrestins: traffic cops of cell signaling. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 16, 162-8 (2004).
- Shenoy, S.K. & Lefkowitz, R.J. Multifaceted roles of beta-arrestins in the regulation of sevenmembrane-spanning receptor trafficking and signalling. *Biochem J* 375, 503-15 (2003).
- 184. Kang, J. et al. A nuclear function of beta-arrestin1 in GPCR signaling: regulation of histone acetylation and gene transcription. *Cell* **123**, 833-47 (2005).
- 185. Lefkowitz, R.J. & Shenoy, S.K. Transduction of receptor signals by beta-arrestins. *Science* **308**, 512-7 (2005).
- 186. Ma, L. & Pei, G. Beta-arrestin signaling and regulation of transcription. J Cell Sci 120, 213-8 (2007).
- 187. Shenoy, S.K. & Lefkowitz, R.J. Trafficking patterns of beta-arrestin and G protein-coupled receptors determined by the kinetics of beta-arrestin deubiquitination. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 14498-506 (2003).
- 188. Zou, L., Yang, R., Chai, J. & Pei, G. Rapid xenograft tumor progression in beta-arrestin1 transgenic mice due to enhanced tumor angiogenesis. *Faseb J* **22**, 355-64 (2008).
- 189. Pearson, G. et al. Mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathways: regulation and physiological functions. *Endocr Rev* 22, 153-83 (2001).
- 190. Conner, D.A. et al. beta-Arrestin1 knockout mice appear normal but demonstrate altered cardiac responses to beta-adrenergic stimulation. *Circ Res* **81**, 1021-6 (1997).
- 191. Buchanan, F.G. et al. Role of beta-arrestin 1 in the metastatic progression of colorectal cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**, 1492-7 (2006).
- 192. Ge, L., Shenoy, S.K., Lefkowitz, R.J. & DeFea, K. Constitutive protease-activated receptor-2-mediated migration of MDA MB-231 breast cancer cells requires both beta-arrestin-1 and -2. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 55419-24 (2004).
- 193. Adam, M.F. et al. Tissue oxygen distribution in head and neck cancer patients. *Head Neck* **21**, 146-53 (1999).
- 194. Harris, A.L. Hypoxia--a key regulatory factor in tumour growth. Nat Rev Cancer 2, 38-47 (2002).
- 195. Sutherland, R.M. Cell and environment interactions in tumor microregions: the multicell spheroid model. *Science* **240**, 177-84 (1988).
- 196. Wang, G.L. & Semenza, G.L. Purification and characterization of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *J Biol Chem* 270, 1230-7 (1995).
- 197. Tanimoto, K., Makino, Y., Pereira, T. & Poellinger, L. Mechanism of regulation of the hypoxiainducible factor-1 alpha by the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein. *Embo J* **19**, 4298-309 (2000).
- 198. Jeong, J.W. et al. Regulation and destabilization of HIF-1alpha by ARD1-mediated acetylation. *Cell* 111, 709-20 (2002).
- 199. Semenza, G.L., Nejfelt, M.K., Chi, S.M. & Antonarakis, S.E. Hypoxia-inducible nuclear factors bind to an enhancer element located 3' to the human erythropoietin gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 88, 5680-4 (1991).
- Lau, K.W., Tian, Y.M., Raval, R.R., Ratcliffe, P.J. & Pugh, C.W. Target gene selectivity of hypoxiainducible factor-alpha in renal cancer cells is conveyed by post-DNA-binding mechanisms. *Br J Cancer* 96, 1284-92 (2007).
- 201. Manalo, D.J. et al. Transcriptional regulation of vascular endothelial cell responses to hypoxia by HIF-1. *Blood* **105**, 659-69 (2005).
- 202. Lando, D. et al. FIH-1 is an asparaginyl hydroxylase enzyme that regulates the transcriptional activity of hypoxia-inducible factor. *Genes Dev* **16**, 1466-71 (2002).
- 203. Pouyssegur, J., Dayan, F. & Mazure, N.M. Hypoxia signalling in cancer and approaches to enforce tumour regression. *Nature* **441**, 437-43 (2006).
- 204. Brennan, D.J. et al. CA IX is an independent prognostic marker in premenopausal breast cancer patients with one to three positive lymph nodes and a putative marker of radiation resistance. *Clin Cancer Res* **12**, 6421-31 (2006).

- 205. Osinsky, S.P. et al. Hypoxia level and matrix metalloproteinases-2 and -9 activity in Lewis lung carcinoma: correlation with metastasis. *Exp Oncol* **27**, 202-5 (2005).
- 206. Coquelle, A., Toledo, F., Stern, S., Bieth, A. & Debatisse, M. A new role for hypoxia in tumor progression: induction of fragile site triggering genomic rearrangements and formation of complex DMs and HSRs. *Mol Cell* **2**, 259-65 (1998).
- 207. Yuan, J., Narayanan, L., Rockwell, S. & Glazer, P.M. Diminished DNA repair and elevated mutagenesis in mammalian cells exposed to hypoxia and low pH. *Cancer Res* **60**, 4372-6 (2000).
- 208. Brahimi-Horn, C., Mazure, N. & Pouyssegur, J. Signalling via the hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha requires multiple posttranslational modifications. *Cell Signal* **17**, 1-9 (2005).
- 209. Semenza, G.L. Defining the role of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in cancer biology and therapeutics. *Oncogene* (2009).
- 210. Bilton, R.L. & Booker, G.W. The subtle side to hypoxia inducible factor (HIFalpha) regulation. *Eur J Biochem* **270**, 791-8 (2003).
- 211. Semenza, G. Signal transduction to hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Biochem Pharmacol* 64, 993-8 (2002).
- 212. Hockel, M. et al. Association between tumor hypoxia and malignant progression in advanced cancer of the uterine cervix. *Cancer Res* **56**, 4509-15 (1996).
- 213. Brizel, D.M., Sibley, G.S., Prosnitz, L.R., Scher, R.L. & Dewhirst, M.W. Tumor hypoxia adversely affects the prognosis of carcinoma of the head and neck. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* **38**, 285-9 (1997).
- 214. Movsas, B. et al. Increasing levels of hypoxia in prostate carcinoma correlate significantly with increasing clinical stage and patient age: an Eppendorf pO(2) study. *Cancer* **89**, 2018-24 (2000).
- 215. Generali, D. et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha expression predicts a poor response to primary chemoendocrine therapy and disease-free survival in primary human breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* **12**, 4562-8 (2006).
- 216. Dales, J.P. et al. Overexpression of hypoxia-inducible factor HIF-1alpha predicts early relapse in breast cancer: retrospective study in a series of 745 patients. *Int J Cancer* **116**, 734-9 (2005).
- 217. Kronblad, A., Jirstrom, K., Ryden, L., Nordenskjold, B. & Landberg, G. Hypoxia inducible factorlalpha is a prognostic marker in premenopausal patients with intermediate to highly differentiated breast cancer but not a predictive marker for tamoxifen response. *Int J Cancer* **118**, 2609-16 (2006).
- 218. Bos, R. et al. Levels of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha independently predict prognosis in patients with lymph node negative breast carcinoma. *Cancer* **97**, 1573-81 (2003).
- 219. Milani, M. & Harris, A.L. Targeting tumour hypoxia in breast cancer. *Eur J Cancer* 44, 2766-73 (2008).
- 220. Vaupel, P., Hockel, M. & Mayer, A. Detection and characterization of tumor hypoxia using pO2 histography. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 9, 1221-35 (2007).
- 221. Gray, L.H., Conger, A.D., Ebert, M., Hornsey, S. & Scott, O.C. The concentration of oxygen dissolved in tissues at the time of irradiation as a factor in radiotherapy. *Br J Radiol* **26**, 638-48 (1953).
- 222. Vaupel, P., Kallinowski, F. & Okunieff, P. Blood flow, oxygen and nutrient supply, and metabolic microenvironment of human tumors: a review. *Cancer Res* **49**, 6449-65 (1989).
- 223. Vaupel, P., Thews, O. & Hoeckel, M. Treatment resistance of solid tumors: role of hypoxia and anemia. *Med Oncol* **18**, 243-59 (2001).
- 224. Teicher, B.A., Lazo, J.S. & Sartorelli, A.C. Classification of antineoplastic agents by their selective toxicities toward oxygenated and hypoxic tumor cells. *Cancer Res* **41**, 73-81 (1981).
- 225. Wouters, B.G. et al. Hypoxia as a target for combined modality treatments. *Eur J Cancer* **38**, 240-57 (2002).
- 226. Rapisarda, A. et al. Identification of small molecule inhibitors of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 transcriptional activation pathway. *Cancer Res* **62**, 4316-24 (2002).
- 227. Escuin, D., Kline, E.R. & Giannakakou, P. Both microtubule-stabilizing and microtubule-destabilizing drugs inhibit hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha accumulation and activity by disrupting microtubule function. *Cancer Res* **65**, 9021-8 (2005).
- 228. Lee, K. et al. Anthracycline chemotherapy inhibits HIF-1 transcriptional activity and tumor-induced mobilization of circulating angiogenic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**, 2353-8 (2009).
- 229. Semenza, G.L. HIF-1 inhibitors for cancer therapy: from gene expression to drug discovery. *Curr Pharm Des* **15**, 3839-43 (2009).
- Thiery, J.P. Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in development and pathologies. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 15, 740-6 (2003).

- 231. Gupta, G.P. & Massague, J. Cancer metastasis: building a framework. Cell 127, 679-95 (2006).
- 232. Barrallo-Gimeno, A. & Nieto, M.A. The Snail genes as inducers of cell movement and survival: implications in development and cancer. *Development* **132**, 3151-61 (2005).
- 233. Thiery, J.P. & Sleeman, J.P. Complex networks orchestrate epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **7**, 131-42 (2006).
- 234. Matter, K. & Balda, M.S. Signalling to and from tight junctions. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **4**, 225-36 (2003).
- 235. Ikenouchi, J., Matsuda, M., Furuse, M. & Tsukita, S. Regulation of tight junctions during the epithelium-mesenchyme transition: direct repression of the gene expression of claudins/occludin by Snail. *J Cell Sci* **116**, 1959-67 (2003).
- 236. Wahab, N.A. & Mason, R.M. A critical look at growth factors and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in the adult kidney. Interrelationships between growth factors that regulate EMT in the adult kidney. *Nephron Exp Nephrol* **104**, e129-34 (2006).
- 237. Peinado, H., Olmeda, D. & Cano, A. Snail, Zeb and bHLH factors in tumour progression: an alliance against the epithelial phenotype? *Nat Rev Cancer* **7**, 415-28 (2007).
- 238. Thomson, S. et al. Epithelial to mesenchymal transition is a determinant of sensitivity of non-small-cell lung carcinoma cell lines and xenografts to epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition. *Cancer Res* **65**, 9455-62 (2005).
- 239. Ciruna, B. & Rossant, J. FGF signaling regulates mesoderm cell fate specification and morphogenetic movement at the primitive streak. *Dev Cell* **1**, 37-49 (2001).
- 240. Polakis, P. Wnt signaling and cancer. *Genes Dev* 14, 1837-51 (2000).
- 241. Timmerman, L.A. et al. Notch promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition during cardiac development and oncogenic transformation. *Genes Dev* **18**, 99-115 (2004).
- 242. Peinado, H., Portillo, F. & Cano, A. Transcriptional regulation of cadherins during development and carcinogenesis. *Int J Dev Biol* **48**, 365-75 (2004).
- 243. Hajra, K.M., Chen, D.Y. & Fearon, E.R. The SLUG zinc-finger protein represses E-cadherin in breast cancer. *Cancer Res* **62**, 1613-8 (2002).
- 244. Vesuna, F., van Diest, P., Chen, J.H. & Raman, V. Twist is a transcriptional repressor of E-cadherin gene expression in breast cancer. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **367**, 235-41 (2008).
- 245. Perez-Moreno, M.A. et al. A new role for E12/E47 in the repression of E-cadherin expression and epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 27424-31 (2001).
- 246. Grooteclaes, M.L. & Frisch, S.M. Evidence for a function of CtBP in epithelial gene regulation and anoikis. *Oncogene* **19**, 3823-8 (2000).
- 247. Comijn, J. et al. The two-handed E box binding zinc finger protein SIP1 downregulates E-cadherin and induces invasion. *Mol Cell* **7**, 1267-78 (2001).
- 248. Zhou, B.P. et al. Dual regulation of Snail by GSK-3beta-mediated phosphorylation in control of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Nat Cell Biol* **6**, 931-40 (2004).
- 249. Dhasarathy, A., Kajita, M. & Wade, P.A. The transcription factor snail mediates epithelial to mesenchymal transitions by repression of estrogen receptor-alpha. *Mol Endocrinol* **21**, 2907-18 (2007).
- 250. Cheng, C.W. et al. Mechanisms of inactivation of E-cadherin in breast carcinoma: modification of the two-hit hypothesis of tumor suppressor gene. *Oncogene* **20**, 3814-23 (2001).
- 251. Blanco, M.J. et al. Correlation of Snail expression with histological grade and lymph node status in breast carcinomas. *Oncogene* **21**, 3241-6 (2002).
- 252. Moody, S.E. et al. The transcriptional repressor Snail promotes mammary tumor recurrence. *Cancer Cell* **8**, 197-209 (2005).
- 253. Chen, J., Imanaka, N., Chen, J. & Griffin, J.D. Hypoxia potentiates Notch signaling in breast cancer leading to decreased E-cadherin expression and increased cell migration and invasion. *Br J Cancer* (2009).
- 254. Cannito, S. et al. Redox mechanisms switch on hypoxia-dependent epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cancer cells. *Carcinogenesis* **29**, 2267-78 (2008).
- 255. Imai, T. et al. Hypoxia attenuates the expression of E-cadherin via up-regulation of SNAIL in ovarian carcinoma cells. *Am J Pathol* **163**, 1437-47 (2003).
- 256. Kurrey, N.K., K, A. & Bapat, S.A. Snail and Slug are major determinants of ovarian cancer invasiveness at the transcription level. *Gynecol Oncol* **97**, 155-65 (2005).

- 257. Sahlgren, C., Gustafsson, M.V., Jin, S., Poellinger, L. & Lendahl, U. Notch signaling mediates hypoxia-induced tumor cell migration and invasion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**, 6392-7 (2008).
- Mani, S.A. et al. The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. *Cell* 133, 704-15 (2008).
- 259. Brabletz, T., Jung, A., Spaderna, S., Hlubek, F. & Kirchner, T. Opinion: migrating cancer stem cells an integrated concept of malignant tumour progression. *Nat Rev Cancer* **5**, 744-9 (2005).
- 260. Tarin, D., Thompson, E.W. & Newgreen, D.F. The fallacy of epithelial mesenchymal transition in neoplasia. *Cancer Res* **65**, 5996-6000; discussion 6000-1 (2005).
- 261. Christiansen, J.J. & Rajasekaran, A.K. Reassessing epithelial to mesenchymal transition as a prerequisite for carcinoma invasion and metastasis. *Cancer Res* **66**, 8319-26 (2006).
- 262. Talmadge, J.E. Clonal selection of metastasis within the life history of a tumor. *Cancer Res* **67**, 11471-5 (2007).
- 263. Sporn, M.B. The war on cancer. *Lancet* **347**, 1377-81 (1996).
- 264. Brenner, H., Gondos, A. & Arndt, V. Recent major progress in long-term cancer patient survival disclosed by modeled period analysis. *J Clin Oncol* **25**, 3274-80 (2007).
- 265. Steeg, P.S. Tumor metastasis: mechanistic insights and clinical challenges. *Nat Med* **12**, 895-904 (2006).
- 266. Overall, C.M. & Kleifeld, O. Tumour microenvironment opinion: validating matrix metalloproteinases as drug targets and anti-targets for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* **6**, 227-39 (2006).
- 267. Folgueras, A.R., Pendas, A.M., Sanchez, L.M. & Lopez-Otin, C. Matrix metalloproteinases in cancer: from new functions to improved inhibition strategies. *Int J Dev Biol* **48**, 411-24 (2004).
- 268. Kang, Y. et al. A multigenic program mediating breast cancer metastasis to bone. *Cancer Cell* **3**, 537-49 (2003).
- 269. Minn, A.J. et al. Genes that mediate breast cancer metastasis to lung. Nature 436, 518-24 (2005).
- 270. Liotta, L.A. & Kohn, E.C. The microenvironment of the tumour-host interface. *Nature* **411**, 375-9 (2001).
- 271. Park, C.C., Bissell, M.J. & Barcellos-Hoff, M.H. The influence of the microenvironment on the malignant phenotype. *Mol Med Today* **6**, 324-9 (2000).
- 272. Christofori, G. New signals from the invasive front. *Nature* **441**, 444-50 (2006).
- 273. Coussens, L.M. & Werb, Z. Inflammation and cancer. *Nature* **420**, 860-7 (2002).
- 274. Mueller, M.M. & Fusenig, N.E. Friends or foes bipolar effects of the tumour stroma in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* **4**, 839-49 (2004).
- 275. Olaso, E. et al. Proangiogenic role of tumor-activated hepatic stellate cells in experimental melanoma metastasis. *Hepatology* **37**, 674-85 (2003).
- 276. Olaso, E. et al. Tumor-dependent activation of rodent hepatic stellate cells during experimental melanoma metastasis. *Hepatology* **26**, 634-42 (1997).
- 277. Grum-Schwensen, B. et al. Suppression of tumor development and metastasis formation in mice lacking the S100A4(mts1) gene. *Cancer Res* **65**, 3772-80 (2005).
- 278. Joyce, J.A. & Pollard, J.W. Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis. *Nat Rev Cancer* 9, 239-52 (2009).
- 279. Paget, S. The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. 1889. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* 8, 98-101 (1989).
- 280. Psaila, B., Kaplan, R.N., Port, E.R. & Lyden, D. Priming the 'soil' for breast cancer metastasis: the premetastatic niche. *Breast Dis* **26**, 65-74 (2006).
- 281. Kaplan, R.N., Psaila, B. & Lyden, D. Bone marrow cells in the 'pre-metastatic niche': within bone and beyond. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* **25**, 521-9 (2006).
- 282. Braun, S. et al. Cytokeratin-positive cells in the bone marrow and survival of patients with stage I, II, or III breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* **342**, 525-33 (2000).
- 283. Aldridge, S.E., Lennard, T.W., Williams, J.R. & Birch, M.A. Vascular endothelial growth factor acts as an osteolytic factor in breast cancer metastases to bone. *Br J Cancer* **92**, 1531-7 (2005).
- 284. Muller, A. et al. Involvement of chemokine receptors in breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* **410**, 50-6 (2001).
- 285. Geminder, H. et al. A possible role for CXCR4 and its ligand, the CXC chemokine stromal cell-derived factor-1, in the development of bone marrow metastases in neuroblastoma. *J Immunol* **167**, 4747-57 (2001).

- 286. Sun, Y.X. et al. Expression of CXCR4 and CXCL12 (SDF-1) in human prostate cancers (PCa) in vivo. *J Cell Biochem* **89**, 462-73 (2003).
- Porcile, C., Bajetto, A., Barbero, S., Pirani, P. & Schettini, G. CXCR4 activation induces epidermal growth factor receptor transactivation in an ovarian cancer cell line. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1030, 162-9 (2004).
- 288. Scadden, D.T. The stem-cell niche as an entity of action. *Nature* **441**, 1075-9 (2006).
- 289. Pittenger, M.F. et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science* **284**, 143-7 (1999).
- 290. Karnoub, A.E. et al. Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* **449**, 557-63 (2007).
- 291. Moinfar, F. et al. Concurrent and independent genetic alterations in the stromal and epithelial cells of mammary carcinoma: implications for tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res* **60**, 2562-6 (2000).
- 292. Kurose, K. et al. Genetic model of multi-step breast carcinogenesis involving the epithelium and stroma: clues to tumour-microenvironment interactions. *Hum Mol Genet* **10**, 1907-13 (2001).
- 293. Paterson, R.F. et al. Molecular genetic alterations in the laser-capture-microdissected stroma adjacent to bladder carcinoma. *Cancer* **98**, 1830-6 (2003).
- 294. Tuhkanen, H. et al. Genetic alterations in the peritumoral stromal cells of malignant and borderline epithelial ovarian tumors as indicated by allelic imbalance on chromosome 3p. *Int J Cancer* **109**, 247-52 (2004).
- 295. Allinen, M. et al. Molecular characterization of the tumor microenvironment in breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* **6**, 17-32 (2004).
- 296. Ma, X.J., Dahiya, S., Richardson, E., Erlander, M. & Sgroi, D.C. Gene expression profiling of the tumor microenvironment during breast cancer progression. *Breast Cancer Res* **11**, R7 (2009).
- 297. Finak, G. et al. Stromal gene expression predicts clinical outcome in breast cancer. *Nat Med* 14, 518-27 (2008).
- 298. Polyak, K., Haviv, I. & Campbell, I.G. Co-evolution of tumor cells and their microenvironment. *Trends Genet* **25**, 30-8 (2009).
- 299. Roskelley, C.D. & Bissell, M.J. The dominance of the microenvironment in breast and ovarian cancer. *Semin Cancer Biol* **12**, 97-104 (2002).
- 300. Hattar, R. et al. Tamoxifen induces pleiotrophic changes in mammary stroma resulting in extracellular matrix that suppresses transformed phenotypes. *Breast Cancer Res* **11**, R5 (2009).
- 301. Gupta, P.B. et al. Systemic stromal effects of estrogen promote the growth of estrogen receptor-negative cancers. *Cancer Res* **67**, 2062-71 (2007).
- 302. McShane, L.M. et al. REporting recommendations for tumor MARKer prognostic studies (REMARK). *Nat Clin Pract Urol* **2**, 416-22 (2005).
- 303. Achuthan, R. et al. Genetic events during the transformation of a tamoxifen-sensitive human breast cancer cell line into a drug-resistant clone. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* **130**, 166-72 (2001).
- 304. Pedram, A., Razandi, M., Evinger, A.J., Lee, E. & Levin, E.R. Estrogen inhibits ATR signaling to cell cycle checkpoints and DNA repair. *Mol Biol Cell* **20**, 3374-89 (2009).
- 305. Kumar, R. Another tie that binds the MTA family to breast cancer. Cell 113, 142-3 (2003).
- 306. Girnita, L. et al. {beta}-Arrestin is crucial for ubiquitination and down-regulation of the insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor by acting as adaptor for the MDM2 E3 ligase. *J Biol Chem* **280**, 24412-9 (2005).
- 307. Girnita, L. et al. Beta-arrestin and Mdm2 mediate IGF-1 receptor-stimulated ERK activation and cell cycle progression. *J Biol Chem* **282**, 11329-38 (2007).